

Resilient foods for preventing global famine: a review of food supply interventions for global catastrophic food shocks including nuclear winter and infrastructure collapse

Juan B. García Martínez ^{a,b*} (1), Jeffray Behr ^a (1), Joshua M. Pearce ^c (1), David C. Denkenberger ^{a,d} (1)

^a Alliance to Feed the Earth in Disasters (ALLFED), Lafayette, CO, USA

^b Observatorio de Riesgos Catastróficos Globales (ORCG), Towson, MD, USA

^c Department of Electrical & Computer Engineering; Ivey School of Business, Western University, London, Canada

^d Department of Mechanical Engineering, University of Canterbury, Christchurch, New Zealand

*Corresponding author: juan@allfed.info.

Abstract

Global catastrophic threats to the food system upon which human society depends are numerous. A nuclear war or volcanic eruption could collapse agricultural yields by inhibiting crop growth. Nuclear electromagnetic pulses or extreme pandemics could disrupt industry and mass-scale food supply by unprecedented levels. Global food storage is limited. What can be done?

This article presents the state of the field on interventions to maintain food production in these scenarios, aiming to prevent mass starvation and reduce the chance of civilizational collapse and potential existential catastrophe. The potential for rapid scaling, affordability, and large-scale deployment is reviewed for a portfolio of food production methods over land, water, and industrial systems. Special focus is given to proposing avenues for further research and technology development and to collating policy proposals.

Maintaining international trade and prioritizing crops for food instead of animal feed or biofuels is paramount. Both mature, proven methods (crop relocation, ruminants, greenhouses, seaweed, fishing, etc.) and novel resilient foods are characterized. A future research agenda is outlined, including scenario characterization, policy development, production ramp-up and economic analyses, and rapid deployment trials. Governments could implement national plans and task forces to address extreme food system risks, and invest in resilient food solutions to safeguard citizens against global catastrophic food failure.

Keywords

Global catastrophic risk; Existential risk; Food security; Abrupt sunlight reduction scenario; Nuclear winter; Global catastrophic infrastructure loss

Abbreviations

Abrupt sunlight reduction scenario (ASRS) Artificial intelligence (AI) Global catastrophic infrastructure loss (GCIL) Global catastrophic risk (GCR) Integrated multi-trophic aquaculture (IMTA) Leaf protein concentrate (LPC) Single cell protein (SCP)

High-altitude electromagnetic pulse (HEMP)

Statement: this is a non-peer reviewed preprint submitted to **<u>EarthArXiv</u>**

Table of contents

1 Introduction	4
2 Food conservation interventions	7
2.1 Redirection of crops used in animal agriculture for human consumption	7
2.2 Redirection of crops used in biofuel production for human consumption	11
2.3 Reducing Food Waste	13
3 Resilient food solutions	14
3.1 Land-based solutions	15
3.1.1 Ruminants fed on grass and agricultural residues	15
3.1.2 Other cellulose-digesting animals, e.g. insects and shipworms	15
3.1.3 Crop Relocation	16
3.1.4 Greenhouses	18
3.1.5 Expansion of Planted Crop Area	19
3.1.6 Leaf Protein Concentrate (LPC)	20
3.1.7 Mushrooms	22
3.1.8 Foraging	23
3.2 Water-based solutions	24
3.2.1 Freshwater pond plants, e.g. duckweed	24
3.2.2 Low-tech Microalgae cultivation	25
3.2.3 Seaweed	25
3.2.4 Regular Fishing	28
3.2.5 Deep Sea Fishing (mesopelagic fish)	30
3.2.6 Krill Fishing	31
3.2.7 Bivalve Cultivation	31
3.2.8 Integrated Multi-Trophic Aquaculture (IMTA)	32
3.3 Food without agriculture - high tech solutions for ASRS	33
4 Policy work on resilient food solutions and related interventions	35
5 Discussion and future work	37
5.1 Deep uncertainty and scenario characterization work	37
5.2 Future work on resilient food research and development	38
5.3 Future work on critical infrastructure resilience for GCRs	39
5.4 Future work on GCR policy	40
6 Concluding remarks	40
Appendix A: Notable interventions not included	43
References	45

1 Introduction

The current global agriculture system heavily depends on reliable environmental conditions including sunlight, temperature, and precipitation, all of which could be severely impacted by global catastrophes (Denkenberger and Pearce 2015). It also depends on complex supply chains supported by a massive global infrastructure, which brings key benefits but also increases systemic vulnerability, such that a disruption in a given point could affect the entire system (Maynard 2015). Abrupt climate change, crop pathogens, superweeds, super bacteria, and super crop pests could all severely affect agriculture (Denkenberger and Pearce 2015). Climate change is already increasing the likelihood of a multiple breadbasket failure (Gaupp et al. 2019), and even worse climate change scenarios are possible (Richards, Gauch, and Allwood 2023). These are categorized as global catastrophic risks (GCRs), risks to global well-being potentially imperiling human civilization (Bostrom and Cirkovic 2008), which are severely underprioritized by governments (Boyd and Wilson 2023b). However, even worse scenarios are on the table, which could suddenly upend both the environmental conditions and the infrastructure on which our global food system depends, and thus require monumental adaptation efforts to prevent global famine. The current review focuses primarily on adaptations to the most extreme global catastrophic food shock scenarios: an abrupt sunlight reduction scenario (ASRS), a global catastrophic infrastructure loss (GCIL), and the worst case: a combination of both.

An ASRS originates from a sudden event that projects vast amounts of aerosol material such as sulfates or black carbon (soot) into the stratosphere, where they could become entrapped for years (Coupe et al. 2019). This is likely to result in a rapid reduction in sunlight irradiation, which could cause global temperature, sunlight, and precipitation levels to fall dramatically, thereby devastating global agricultural production (Xia et al. 2022). The three main avenues which could lead to an ASRS are: a volcanic winter caused by a large volcanic eruption, a direct impact of an exceptionally large asteroid or comet, and a nuclear winter triggered by a nuclear war in which numerous cities have been targeted (Bostrom and Cirkovic 2008; Denkenberger and Pearce 2015). Models simulating plausible nuclear winter scenarios with varying degrees of severity estimate a loss of up to ~90% of global staple crop production in the worst year of the catastrophe, see Figure 1 (Xia et al. 2022).



Figure 1. a-c: Changes in a) solar radiation, b) surface temperature, and c) precipitation, averaged over global crop regions following six stratospheric soot-loading scenarios of nuclear winter of varying degrees of severity (measured as teragrams (Tg) or million tonnes of soot load in the atmosphere); d) Global average annual crop calorie production changes (%; maize, wheat, rice and soybeans, weighted by their observed production (2010) and calorie content. Material adapted from: Lili Xia, Alan Robock, Kim Scherrer, Cheryl S. Harrison, Benjamin Leon Bodirsky, Isabelle Weindl, Jonas Jägermeyr, Charles G. Bardeen, Owen B. Toon & Ryan Heneghan, Global food insecurity and famine from reduced crop, marine fishery and livestock production due to climate disruption from nuclear war soot injection, *Nature Food*, published 2022 by Springer Nature (CC BY 4.0 license, minor changes made).

GCIL describes a scenario where the electrical grid and/or industrial infrastructure has been majorly disrupted globally. Since the current agricultural system requires critical industrial inputs (e.g. processing machines, vehicles, fuel, fertilizer, pesticides) to maintain current yields, it is extremely likely that without industry, these yields would collapse leading to mass starvation in the absence of a significant response (Moersdorf et al. 2024). Reductions in the agricultural yield of staple crops in the absence of synthetic fertilizer, pesticides, irrigation and mechanization have been estimated as -35% for rice, -41% for soybeans, -48% for corn, and -37% for wheat, see Figure 2 (Moersdorf et al. 2024). The main mechanisms which have been proposed as a potential cause of GCIL are: disablement of electric grids and destruction of circuits due to a high-altitude

electromagnetic pulse (HEMP) from a nuclear weapon, disablement of transformers and transmission lines from solar storms, disruption of electrical grids and industries via cyberattacks, and extreme pandemic leading to mass death and absenteeism from critical infrastructure work leading to supply chain failure (Denkenberger et al. 2021). In addition, rapid progress in artificial intelligence (AI) could become an important GCIL risk factor: leading AI scientists are now calling for stronger action on AI risks from world leaders, citing concerns including large-scale cybercrime and development of novel biological weapons (Bengio et al. 2024).



Figure 2. Spatial distribution of yield loss for staple crops — a) corn, b) rice, c) soybeans, d) wheat — in a scenario with no industrial inputs (synthetic fertilizer, pesticides, irrigation and mechanization). Material adapted from: Jessica Moersdorf, Morgan Rivers, David Denkenberger, Lutz Breuer, Florian Ulrich Jehn, <u>The Fragile State of Industrial Agriculture: Estimating Crop Yield Reductions in a Global Catastrophic Infrastructure Loss Scenario</u>, *Global Challenges*, published 2024 by Wiley (<u>CC BY 4.0</u> license, minor changes made).

Notably, a full-scale nuclear war presents the risk of a combined ASRS and GCIL catastrophe, in which both the environmental conditions and critical infrastructure that sustain the current food system are disrupted (Denkenberger et al. 2017). Rapid AI progress has also been noted as a potential risk factor for increased nuclear war risk (Maas, Lucero-Matteucci, and Cooke 2023).

The COVID-19 pandemic highlighted the fragility of food systems and the insufficient preparedness of global governments to handle the shocks to the food system and supply chains that would occur during a global catastrophe (Laborde et al. 2020; Liu, Lauta, and Maas 2020). Current preparedness to feed the surviving global population following a catastrophe is sorely lacking (Boyd, Ragnarsson, et al. 2023; Boyd and Wilson 2023b; Wilson, Prickett, and Boyd 2023). This is because there are only enough food stocks to feed the global population for around 6 months (Denkenberger and Pearce 2014), and little to no preparation to deploy interventions capable of offsetting a sudden food production loss. The decline in crop yields resulting from a global catastrophic food failure would lead to increased food prices, further worsening global food

insecurity (Janetos et al. 2017). Without proper planning and preparation, billions could die of starvation (Xia et al. 2022).

Thus, many researchers have agreed that to mitigate the severity of a global catastrophe, resilient food solutions should be developed (Avin et al. 2018; Baum et al. 2019; Boyd and Wilson 2023a; Denkenberger et al. 2022; Ord 2020; Pinsent and Tan 2024; Ruhl 2023; Sepasspour 2023; Siva and Anderson 2023). These are defined as interventions capable of producing substantial quantities of calories and essential nutrients even during a global catastrophe when conventional methods of food production would be inadequate to feed the global population (Pham et al. 2022). To be considered a resilient food technology, a food production method must: 1) provide sufficient food to reliably feed a significant portion of the global population, 2) be able to maintain high production during the resource-constrained period of a global catastrophe, and 3) have the ability to rapidly ramp up production so it can be available when stored food runs out. Research and development of these food solutions and technologies facilitate feeding the global population in a catastrophe, and in the most dire scenarios they could also reduce the risk of global civilizational collapse by contributing to maintaining nodes of civilizational complexity (Boyd and Wilson 2023a; Ulloa Ruiz et al. 2024) — reducing existential risk in doing so. Pham et al. analyzed nutritional combinations of resilient foods in ASRS and concluded that they could provide a lifesustaining diet according to dietary guidelines (Pham et al. 2022).

The aim of this literature review is to present the state of the field of practice in food system interventions with the potential to prevent mass starvation following a global catastrophe, with a focus on proposing avenues for further research and pilot testing. First, a group of food conservation interventions focused on optimizing crop uses for saving lives in a catastrophe is discussed (Section 2). Next addressed are three groups of interventions called "resilient food solutions" (Section 3) focused on raising the food production baseline to counter catastrophic crop yield reductions. Then, a review of the policy work done so far to mitigate the risk is presented (Section 4). Finally, the discussion is focused on the uncertainties involved and future work to address these (Section 5).

This work has a partner study titled "Food without agriculture: Food from CO₂, biomass and hydrocarbons to secure humanity's food supply against global catastrophe" (see Section 3.3); combined they seek to update the original work that kickstarted the research field of foods resilient to global catastrophic food failure: the book "Feeding Everyone no Matter What" (Denkenberger and Pearce 2014).

2 Food conservation interventions

2.1 Redirection of crops used in animal agriculture for human consumption

One fundamental way to feed people during a protracted, catastrophic food shortage is to redirect food that is currently used to feed animals (mostly for poultry, beef, pork, egg, and milk production) (Ritchie, Rosado, and Roser 2017), and instead use it as food for people directly. Feeding animals grains is an extremely inefficient way to obtain calories. Chickens, which are one

of the most efficient feed to calories converting animals, still require about 8 calories in for every 1 calorie out; this ratio is over 30 for cattle (Cassidy et al. 2013). It should be pointed out, however, not all of the feed that is given to animals can be reallocated to people as humans are not able to digest lignocellulosic material (e.g. grass, hay, bark) that other animals, such as ruminants and some insects, are able to digest. Animals not capable of digesting lignocellulosic material were not considered a food resilient to ASRS, see discussion on Appendix A.

Animal feed accounts for 36% of the calories and 53% of the protein produced by the global crop supply (Cassidy et al. 2013). An additional 9% of the calories produced by the global crop supply does not go towards human or animal consumption, but other purposes such as biofuels (Cassidy et al. 2013). Based on this, it is estimated that if all crops grown only went towards human consumption, then the availability of calories globally would increase by about 70% — thereby enabling the world to feed up to an additional ~4 billion people (Cassidy et al. 2013). This is particularly pronounced in countries with a very strong meat industry, for example, Ulloa Ruiz et al. estimated that in Argentina the gross calorie production is equivalent to the caloric requirements of ~600 million people — 13 times the country's population — but the net calorie production (after accounting for crop use in meat and biofuel production) for internal food consumption and imports is reduced to ~110 million (Ulloa Ruiz et al. 2024). This difference is so large that in extreme ASRS conditions (150 Tg) Argentina would not be able to feed its population without changes in its meat and biofuels industries, but not using crops for meat or biofuels would enable feeding almost 4 times its population (Ulloa Ruiz et al. 2024). The ASRS food production estimates from (Xia et al. 2022) and (Rivers et al. 2024) indicate other countries that appear to similarly be able to not only avoid starvation but also feed many times their population through redirection, including Brazil, Paraguay, and Guyana. Others such as the United States, Bolivia, Panama, Ireland, Eswatini, Malaysia, and Indonesia may be able to obtain enough calories to fulfill the minimum requirement of their population using mostly redirection — as shown in figure 4. Finally, New Zealand, Australia, and Uruguay may not need to employ redirection to feed their population even in a 150 Tg ASRS, but doing so would free up large amounts of food that could be used to prevent famine elsewhere. All in all, (Rivers et al. 2024) estimate that rapid redirection of feed and biofuel crops for food in combination with rationing, optimized food stock management and food waste reduction would vastly increase food availability compared to no adaptations, from 15% to 51% of the global caloric requirement. For discussion on biofuel crop redirection and food waste reduction, see the following sections.



Fraction of minimum caloric needs met

Figure 4. Maps of national food availability without food trade in a 150 Tg scenario. From (Xia et al. 2022) there are figures a) and b), respectively representing the calorie intake status of maintaining current livestock versus maintaining it only partially (Partial Livestock case implies 50% of livestock feed used for human food and the other 50% still used to feed livestock. + 100% waste represents all household waste added to food consumption.) Material adapted from: Lili Xia, Alan Robock, Kim Scherrer, Cheryl S. Harrison, Benjamin Leon Bodirsky, Isabelle Weindl, Jonas Jägermeyr, Charles G. Bardeen, Owen B. Toon & Ryan Heneghan, Global food insecurity and famine from reduced crop, marine fishery and livestock production due to climate disruption from nuclear war soot injection, *Nature Food*, published 2022 by Springer Nature (CC BY 4.0 license, minor changes made). From (Rivers et al. 2024) there are figures c) and d), respectively representing the share of caloric requirements fulfilled in a scenario of no adaptations versus a scenario including the adaptations of rapid redirection of feed and biofuel crops for food, rationing, optimized food stock management and food waste reduction. Material adapted from: Morgan Rivers, Michael Hinge, Kevin Rassool, Simon Blouin, Florian U. Jehn, Juan B. García Martínez,

Vasco Amaral Grilo, Victor Jaeck, Ross J. Tieman, James Mulhall, Talib E. Butt & David C. Denkenberger, <u>Food System Adaptation and Maintaining Trade Could Mitigate Global Famine in</u> <u>Abrupt Sunlight Reduction Scenarios</u>, (<u>CC BY 4.0</u> license, minor changes made). More details about the specific accounting of calories from reducing livestock feed, reducing food waste, and other adaptations, which differs between the two analyses, can be found in the respective sources.

Redirecting human-edible food used as animal feed is a practical method to quickly increase the amount of food available to the surviving population in the event of a global catastrophe. Due to the inefficiency of feed to output calorie ratio of animals, it seems logical that the human-digestible portion of the food typically fed to animals would be more efficiently utilized if it was given to people instead (Sandström et al. 2022). Likewise any land currently dedicated to fodder crops that is suitable for growing staple crops for people would be more efficiently utilized that way in a food catastrophe, whenever possible. This response would likely be incentivized by economic conditions after a large crop yield loss, as suggested from economic modeling of nuclear winter (Hochman et al. 2022) and historical evidence from World War 2 (Collingham 2013), but government policies could expedite redirection in abrupt crisis situations to prevent starvation.

Rapidly increasing animal slaughter and meat preservation infrastructure in response to a large disruption would be useful, but could prove challenging due to the high integration of the meat supply chain (Whitehead and Kim 2022). Immediate drastic reductions in breeding while maintaining the existing slaughter capacity would be easier to implement in order to reduce animal populations to levels that could be sustained without using food crops as feed. Logistical analysis would be needed to first move the maximum number of grazing animals from feedlots to pasture, then determine optimum slaughter rates based on facilities to process and store the meat. Trials could be done to determine the labor and capital productivity of switching an employee of one type of animal slaughter to a different type of animal. Pilot tests could be done to see how fast breeding could be stopped and slaughter could be scaled up in existing facilities.

A potential downside to this solution could be a lower availability of nutrient-rich foods, unless other nutrient-rich foods are introduced as a replacement (e.g. soybeans that otherwise would have been fed to cattle, single cell proteins, grass-fed cattle milk and meat, meat from other cellulose-digesting animals, or seafood). This is because animal products generally contain more bioavailable levels of essential minerals and vitamins than crops, such as vitamin B12, riboflavin, vitamin A, vitamin E, iron, zinc, calcium, and vitamin D (Turk 2014). This is not a major concern when nutritional alternatives are available, as in general, vegetarians and vegans are healthier than meat eaters (Segovia-Siapco and Sabaté 2019). In addition, there are methods to process vegetable crops to increase their nutritional density to levels similar or higher than animal products with an overall higher conversion efficiency, from traditional foods like tofu or tempeh to modern plantbased animal product substitutes seeking to emulate functional properties like meat texture, taste and appearance (Wang et al. 2023).

2.2 Redirection of crops used in biofuel production for human consumption

There is also the possibility of redirecting crops currently used in biofuel production for human consumption. The U.S. is the major producer, and corn is the primary crop used in biofuels, in the form of ethanol. The amount of corn that was used for biofuels in the U.S. in 2022 (~5.2 billion bushels of grain) was approximately equivalent to the caloric intake of 600 million people (USDA 2024). Biodiesel is another potential source for redirection as it can be made from rapeseed, palm, and soybean oils, all of which can be used as ingredients for food products. The amount of soybean oil that was produced for biodiesel in the U.S. in 2022 was approximately equivalent to the caloric intake of over 50 million people (USDA 2024). Although fuel sources would be critical in a global catastrophe, biofuels comprise only ~5% of the total energy of petroleum fuels even in the U.S. (EIA 2024), but the crops spent on this equate to twice the daily per capita calorie needs of the U.S. population. Figure 5 shows historical U.S. production of these biofuels and the caloric equivalent of the food spent to obtain them in "people fed" at 2,100 kcal/person/day. Other types of biofuels not based on food crops exist but are a small minority.



Figure 5. a) U.S. corn usage for bioethanol production and the caloric equivalent - 2000/01-2021/22, b) U.S. soybean oil usage for biodiesel production and the caloric equivalent (USDA 2024).

Currently, biofuel production mandates in the United States and much of the world are inflexible, meaning a certain volume of crops must be turned into fuels, no matter their availability in a given harvest (Weber 2016). This means in years with an agricultural shortfall, the burden of reduced supply might fall entirely on animal feed and direct food uses. Thus, introducing flexibility in biofuel mandates for crisis situations is an opportunity to generate a "virtual stock" of food, where in the event of very high prices biofuel blending would fall away due to the structure of the policy (via buy outs or other mechanisms). This would free up oilseeds and grains for human consumption in a catastrophe, while still providing a good price for farmers and preserving biofuel policy in typical years.

2.3 Reducing Food Waste

As a result of limited food supply during a global catastrophe, industry would likely find ways to reduce waste in order to maximize their effectiveness and profitability. For example, since the price elasticity of food waste is -1.49 (Landry and Smith 2019), a tripling of food price would reduce the post-harvest waste from 24-29% to about 6-10% (Verma et al. 2020). Some strategies to reduce food waste include improved waste management/tracking, reuse/recycling, and regulation/quality standards (Thi, Kumar, and Lin 2015). Trials could be done to study how fast these could be implemented in combination with rationing schemes. In addition, multiple solutions exist to upcycle food waste into food sources, from simple interventions like feeding it to animals or reusing sunflower seed pressings and brewer's spent grain processed into flour instead of being used as feed (Aschemann-Witzel et al. 2023), to more complex technologies like fermentation technology to produce single cell proteins and oils from food wastes (Punia Bangar et al. 2024).

3 Resilient food solutions



Figure 3. Representation of the space of resilient foods with selected examples based on how resilient the authors consider them to ASRS and GCIL, in terms of how much their production yields would be affected by the different catastrophes. Placements are approximate, as some methods can be done at a wide variety of technological complexity, but the simplest method is generally shown. Note that this graphic does not include fundamental considerations for the potential of these methods for resilient food production, such as production cost, capital intensity, or speed of mass deployment.

This section discusses the food provision options that have been proposed in the literature as resilient against ASRS and/or GCIL, a selection of which is shown in the chart of Figure 3. The resilient food solutions have been divided into three groups of interventions focused on raising the food production baseline to counter catastrophic crop yield reductions, including land-based solutions, water-based solutions, and high-tech industrial solutions for the production of food without agriculture or sunlight.

3.1 Land-based solutions

3.1.1 Ruminants fed on grass and agricultural residues

Ruminants (e.g. cows, sheep, goats) can live on plant biomass which humans cannot digest, including grass and agricultural residues (e.g. corn stalks, wheat straw, most leaves). As of 2022, there were 4.3 billion ruminants globally (FAO 2024). There remains, however, uncertainty as to how much of the existing dairy cattle population could be sustained in severe ASRS or GCIL. Modern dairy cattle such as Holstein cows, which have been optimized to produce as much milk as possible and make up the vast majority of ruminant populations in many regions of the world, are typically fed considerable amounts of grains as part of their diet. Holstein cows can survive on an all-herbage diet, provided they have high-quality forages (Schori and Münger 2021). An important uncertainty is how they would cope in the long-term with diets based on widely available agricultural residues such as from wheat, which is much lower in protein and more fibrous. Future work on feed trials could address this, by giving evidence-based estimates of whether Holsteins provide an efficient way to upcycle widespread agricultural residues with net-positive calorie generation (more energy contained in the milk than in the amount of human edible grains included in their feed). If this was feasible, Rivers et al. estimated that grass-fed milk could provide the equivalent of ~8.5% of the global population's caloric requirements (Rivers et al. 2024). Nonprotein nitrogen supplementation could be useful as ruminants can digest moderate amounts (Shen et al. 2023), such as from urea or ammonium salts, which are widely available industrially. Other modern dairy breeds such as Jerseys or Guernseys may be better adapted to cope with these lowerenergy diets, but they are less common, and replacing the dominant cattle breeds would take precious time in a global catastrophe. Research on a plan that considers all these factors to optimize the utilization of agricultural residues on a catastrophe would be valuable.

3.1.2 Other cellulose-digesting animals, e.g. insects and shipworms

Some insects (i.e. certain beetle and fly larvae, as well as termites) can also live on grass or agricultural residues (Martin et al. 1997; Ramzy et al. 2022). Some mollusks, such as shipworms — which have historically been consumed in some regions — can live on wood, much like termites. Insects reproduce extremely quickly, can be densely packed, and are amenable to decentralized food production from household food waste (Denkenberger and Pearce 2014). However, to the best of our knowledge there exist no sizeable farming operations of insects fed on lignocellulosic biomass yet, and the shipworm farming industry is still under development (Willer and Aldridge 2020). On the other hand, ruminants are widespread and have been an established food source since prehistoric times. The advantage of insects is they have somewhat more efficient feed ratios than mammals, but their challenges include the low societal acceptance of their consumption in some cultures (Ros-Baró et al. 2022). There is also a difficulty to scale up to meet significant production (Denkenberger and Pearce 2014) in a cost-effective way (Denkenberger et al. 2018), since current methods for mass production remain expensive (Morales-Ramos et al. 2020).

For example, mealworms (*Tenebrio Molitor* larvae), a type of insect commonly studied for mass production operations, are being sold on the market by various companies at prices around ~\$8/kg dry, equivalent to ~\$4 to fulfill a person's daily caloric requirement. They have some capacity to digest cellulose (Li et al. 2016), but do not have the right microbiota to produce the cellulase enzyme that allows other animals such as ruminants and xylophages (wood eaters, e.g. termites, shipworms, gribbles) to break down cellulose into carbohydrates. Mealworms are comparable to poultry in terms of cost and feed efficiency, both having typical values of around 1.5-2.5 kg of weight gained per kg of feed consumed (Cassidy et al. 2013; Bordiean et al. 2020). Work on automation of insect production may reduce costs to an acceptable level, but highly automated systems could be harder to deploy in an ASRS, or impossible in a GCIL.

Considerable uncertainty thus remains on the potential of these animals as a resilient food source. Some research exists on rearing or harvesting termites or shipworms, but the literature does not have in-depth analyses of the feasibility and cost of producing food-grade products at scale, which could be addressed by future research. Trials on feeding agricultural residues to insects, similar to those proposed in the previous section for dairy cattle, would be useful to see if they would outperform ruminants in terms of calories in versus calories out. The usefulness of this research for catastrophe response is limited by the existence of potentially better options for mass deployment in this class, however, such as certain types of ruminants for ASRS and GCIL response, or single cell proteins for ASRS, which can for certain be produced without consuming any human edible food at lower cost and are also high in protein (García Martínez et al. 2022).

3.1.3 Crop Relocation

This solution entails the relocation of cold tolerant crops from the more northern latitudes (where they are often grown) to the regions with a less afflicted climate in an ASRS, in lower latitudes where temperatures would likely remain suitable for their cultivation and where there would be a large amount of arable land in the event of severe reduction in sunlight (Rivers et al. 2024; Wilson et al. 2023). This includes chilling tolerant crops capable of withstanding temperatures between $0-15^{\circ}C$ (e.g. potatoes, rapeseed/canola, and some types of beans) — whose cultivation appears feasible even in the lowest temperature scenarios in vast areas of land mostly in and around the tropics, likely to remain frost-free during the growing season (Coupe et al. 2019) — as well as frost tolerant crops (e.g. wheat, sugar beet, and barley). See tables 2-3 of (Wilson, Payne, and Boyd 2023) for examples of promising crops in these categories.

Adaptations to the global distribution of crops have been extensively studied as a solution to ongoing food security challenges, hinting at their potential for response to extreme shocks. Models of reconfiguring crop distribution show it is possible to feed an additional 825 million people using current croplands while also using 12-14% less water (Davis et al. 2017), and that it is possible to palliate expected crop yield losses from climate change by adjusting the crop cultivars being grown (Minoli et al. 2022). The use of traditional local plants has also been proposed as a possible contributor to catastrophic resilience (Winstead, Jacobson, and Di Gioia 2023), although more research is needed to characterize their resilient food potential in terms of scalability, rapid deployment, and cost.

Even in a severe nuclear winter scenario (150 Tg), hundreds of millions of people could be fed by relocating a few cold tolerant crops en masse (Rivers et al. 2024). These crops would then supply

a wide range of essential vitamins and minerals as well as have the potential to fulfill most of humanity's nutritional needs following a global catastrophe, if allocated effectively (Rivers et al. 2024). Therefore, by leveraging intensive application of all available fertilizers, in addition to redirecting capital and resources where relevant, the yields of these relocated crops could be supported. Note that in this scenario crop relocation alone often would not be able to feed the population of every single country when considering each country separately without international food trade, though it could feed significant numbers (Rivers et al. 2024). This highlights the paramount importance of maintaining international trade and cooperation for saving lives during catastrophes.

It is fundamental to consider which crops can contribute most to nutrition in an ASRS. For example, some legumes such as forage legumes, e.g. alfalfa, show particular promise in terms of cold tolerance (Bhat et al. 2022), but they have not yet been studied in depth for ASRS response, and should be subjected to ASRS yield modeling to evaluate their potential. Another example are frost-resistant crops, which are resilient to the out-of-season frosts that occurred in previous ASRSs such as the "year without summer" caused by Mount Tambora in 1815 (Wilson, Payne, and Boyd 2023). A New Zealand-specific study finds that current production levels of frost resistant crops could not feed all New Zealand citizens following a nuclear war, but expanding their cultivation would suffice (Wilson, Payne, and Boyd 2023), and chilling resistant crops could make significant contribute to nutrition in a 150 Tg nuclear winter, because even in these extreme conditions many tropical and subtropical areas (especially in the Southern Hemisphere) are likely to remain frost-free during the growing season (Coupe et al. 2019). Other areas are unlikely to have significant growing seasons, with some potential exceptions such as New Zealand (Boyd and Wilson 2023a).

Rapeseed is not only an ASRS-resilient source of fats and other key nutrients, it has also been proposed as a potential source of biofuel for maintaining agricultural production in case of diesel shortages due to trade restrictions in fuel-importing regions such as New Zealand during global catastrophes, with wheat being particularly efficient at yielding significant food per unit of fuel spent to cultivate it (Boyd, Ragnarsson, et al. 2023).

There are many challenges behind rapid crop relocation. Firstly, the rapid deployment of cold tolerant seeds to a substantial area of the lower latitudes would need to be done as quickly as possible, which may require the replanting of seeds currently stored for consumption (Rivers et al. 2024). Secondly, support and training would need to be provided on a large scale to farmers to educate them on how to successfully grow crops they may have never cultivated (Rivers et al. 2024). Thirdly, the initiative could require significant international cooperation and trade agreements for the distribution of seeds, agricultural inputs, and expertise — which could be provided by those in the Northern areas where cultivation is hard or impossible in severe ASRS — along with the land, labor, and local skills from those in the lower latitudes (Rivers et al. 2024). There are exceptions to this for relocation of crops within large countries (e.g. U.S., Brazil, Argentina) which would not require international cooperation. Fourthly, a sufficiently large starting amount of seeds is important to achieve a sufficiently fast deployment.

This solution would benefit from pilot testing. For example, there is a need for testing the deployment of relevant crops under simulated ASRS conditions to validate crop growth models,

such as in growth chambers or specialized outdoor locations (perhaps using a mesh to simulate lower irradiation and temperature in cool, dry areas, or a cool greenhouse). Furthermore, it would be valuable to test the capacity of farmers to rapidly switch en masse to crop varieties they are unfamiliar with, to better understand how feasible it is and how it might impact yields. Finally, emergency crop saving strategies already used to prevent frost damage in critical stages of growth can be explored for ASRS that include active control methods like heating with fuel or electricity, sprinkling, wind machines, and agricultural plastic tenting (Poling 2007).

3.1.4 Greenhouses

Going one step further than temporary protective tenting, to supplement crop relocation, the rapid deployment of simple polymer-cover greenhouses could enable the cultivation of additional crops with a temperature-improved climate. This would improve the yield per hectare of crops that are temperature sensitive and enable the cultivation of crops in areas where they would not otherwise be able to be grown due to the climate. Greenhouses trap heat from sunlight to create a warmer environment for crop growth (Alvarado et al. 2020). They are widely used in many different regions around the world and on various scales from shed-sized to massive industrial agriculture buildings. Globally, over 1.3 million hectares were used to produce food in greenhouses by 2019 (Tong et al. 2024).

There exist low-tech open-source greenhouse designs based on plastic sheets and simple wooden or plastic structures (Alvarado et al. 2020). Similar greenhouses have been deployed at a large scale (von Zabeltitz 2011). Simple greenhouses that have historically been used in many regions are large-area, made of wood and plastic, and passively ventilated (Vanthoor et al. 2012). There also exist low-cost, open-source, automatic irrigation systems which could be used in these greenhouses (Wiggert et al. 2019). If the necessary processes to ramp up greenhouse development and deployment can be successfully executed in a catastrophe, then they could potentially provide ~30% of the global food requirements after the first year, although there would be challenges such as limited polymer extrusion capacity (Alvarado et al. 2020).

This intervention needs further research, and pilots should be performed since mass fast deployment of greenhouse technology has not yet been tested and there may not be sufficient infrastructure for it. This should include all steps of the production chain, such as sawnwood, construction steel, and plastic film and sheet. Furthermore, alternative ways of scaling low-tech greenhouses could be investigated further, such as polymer tube framing, and household scale lumber production. Structural analysis could be performed to find the most suitable designs, given the potential risks from adverse meteorological conditions such as strong rain, snowfall, hail or wind. The economically optimized selection of construction materials for all adapted greenhouses is very location dependent (Rana et al. 2023), so the structural engineering of appropriate designs will need to be run with all the available materials. In addition, research could look into retrofitting existing structures with plastic sheeting on the sides to create simple greenhouses, such as the rapidly emerging agrivoltaic arrays (Vandewetering, Hayibo, and Pearce 2022), including woodbased fixed and variable tilt arrays as well as most traditional not tracking racking with semi-transparent modules. There are also research directions to assess the extent to which the current large-scale plowing, planting, harvesting and irrigation method of open-air agriculture could be

adapted to greenhouses. For instance, one could evaluate whether center pivot or other large-scale irrigation methods could be adapted for greenhouses and whether surface and localized irrigation could continue in an ASRS. To maximize yields and diet variety, a useful research topic would be determining, for each region, the most suitable crops and cultivars to be grown in such greenhouses in an ASRS. In turn, this would require more detailed modeling of the environmental conditions inside greenhouses in an ASRS, and further investigation of irrigation and nutrient requirements by crop, cultivar, and region. Other uncertainties requiring further research include: whether the temperature will be sufficiently raised with just the polymer cover as an insulator or if supplemental heating is needed, and whether the plastic cover would reduce the solar radiation so much as to make the plants grow improperly in severe ASRS, since they require a balance of temperature and sunlight for proper growth.

3.1.5 Expansion of Planted Crop Area

There is a vast amount of cropland which is not actually harvested for agricultural use for numerous reasons (Everest, Sungur, and Özcan 2021). In the U.S. alone, 22 million acres are enrolled under the conservation reserve scheme (Pratt 2023), but these could be put into agricultural use at short notice if needed during a global catastrophe. Government financial support could help make cropland that is currently too cost prohibitive to use become economically viable and convert new areas into profitable croplands (Zheng et al. 2023). Leveraging cropland that is used for non-food crops (e.g. cotton and tobacco) could make an additional 2 million km² available for food production globally (Ritchie and Roser 2024). A significant portion of pasture land used to grow forage crops for livestock production could be converted into cropland. 26% of global forest area (~10 million km²) has a slope less than 26% and trees younger than 20 years, making it suitable for agriculture. In less than a year, cropland could potentially be doubled (Monteiro et al. 2024). In addition, more food could be produced using conventional hyper-localized methods as long as industry is maintained (Meyer et al. 2021; Boyd and Wilson 2024).

The main technologies required to expand cropland include construction equipment to level the land and remove debris, as well as forestry equipment for tree removal. The main bottleneck for rapid mass expansion would probably be the availability of this machinery, especially in regions where it is not commonly in use. One way to address this could be different countries sharing equipment to expedite planted area expansion as a resilient food response to ASRS, especially sharing the machinery located in regions unable to obtain significant crop yields in an ASRS, as could be the case of many Northern Hemisphere regions. Research is needed for cataloging and planning for such equipment transfers.

Further research with additional crop models is required to better assess the production potential of crop area expansion. Prioritizing the land to clear based on economic return could more accurately predict the expansion of food supply. This would also allow comparative economics with other resilient food sources. In addition, more research is warranted on market incentives and other policies to encourage food production, particularly in the land currently used for crops detrimental to public health, such as tobacco.

Though expanding planted area is a mature technology, there are still valuable pilots to be done. For instance, some areas which currently only support isolated shrubs or arid vegetation could become arable in ASRS. These areas that are currently too dry to cultivate may become viable in ASRS if the crops' evapotranspiration is reduced due to lower temperatures and higher relative humidity, despite the reduction in rainfall — though this remains speculative and water stress could worsen in some areas in an ASRS. A tantalizing precedent is the Sahara desert being relatively green during the past glaciation (Tierney, Pausata, and deMenocal 2017). Therefore, simulating nuclear winter conditions with an air-conditioned greenhouse in some of these promising areas could be valuable to assess the viability in actual soil conditions. Finally, research into rapid redirection of water and irrigation implementation to new cultivation areas would be valuable. Planting crops with higher calorie to irrigation ratios could limit water demand in places where that would remain a bottleneck.

3.1.6 Leaf Protein Concentrate (LPC)

LPC is a protein-rich, nutrient-dense food made using the non-toxic non-woody parts of plants (Anoop et al. 2023). Producing LPC is a relatively simple process consisting of: 1) mechanical pressing (leaf grinding/pulping), 2) protein precipitation (e.g. by heating, acidification, or other means), and 3) protein concentration (separation and drying) (Santamaría-Fernández and Lübeck 2020). LPC can be consumed in a variety of forms, such as protein powder or concentrate, and is currently consumed by both people and animals.

LPC has been produced on both household and small industrial scales (Nagy et al. 1978), with several industrial plants producing feed and food ingredients in Europe (Santamaría-Fernández and Lübeck 2020), and is now gaining traction as an alternative protein source (Anoop et al. 2023), but LPC has yet to be mass produced globally for human consumption. Companies such as Leaft Foods and Rubisco Foods are working on the mass commercialization of alfalfa-based leaf proteins for use in plant-based protein foods. Other LPC food companies include Grassa and The Leaf Protein Co. Large-scale production of LPC is often used as a replacement for soybean meal protein in animal feed (Ayyat et al. 2021).

Small scale production of LPC has been done in developing countries as a food source for arid and malnourished areas (Rathore 2010). Small scale LPC production can be done relatively easily with limited training, but with lower yields compared to industrial operations (Santamaría-Fernández and Lübeck 2020). A simple open-source LPC press that can be 3-D printed has been developed (Wentworth 2019), and far more sophisticated planetary roller screw designs for other food processing could be used for LPC and also are readily amenable to mass-scale distributed manufacturing. LPC has potential to bridge nutritional deficits including protein and fiber and contains vitamins, minerals, and a combination of essential amino acids, making them a suitable alternative to animal foods. The simplicity of the process, accessibility of plant matter in most locations, and its many other qualities make LPC a highly resilient food option during a catastrophe such as an ASRS or GCIL. It should be pointed out that the general LPC bitter, grassy taste and especially its labor-intensity could be considerable barriers to widespread adoption (Cox et al. 1993).

In just Nigeria alone, it is estimated that the application of LPC technologies to agricultural residues could produce between 3.0 - 13.8 million Gcal/year through direct consumption and animal feed uses, equivalent to the caloric requirement of an estimated 3.9 to 18.1 million people, covering a large share of Nigeria's food deficit (Ugwoke et al. 2023) — though this is probably an upper bound of the potential, requiring LPC toxicity testing to confirm. The application of LPC was estimated to extract up to 5 times more food than the status quo of mostly feeding it directly to ruminants (Ugwoke et al. 2023). Figure 6 shows the case of higher end of potential yield (13.8 million Gcal) through a Sankey diagram of the Nigeria analysis assuming LPC-enhanced residue utilization and optimal efficiencies.



Figure 6. Energy flow diagram showing the potential of leveraging LPC from agricultural residues to improve food security in Nigeria, showing the case of improved residue utilization assuming optimistic efficiencies (energy flows per year), resulting in ~5 times more calories extracted than just feeding the residues to ruminants. Material adapted from: Blessing Ugwoke, Ross Tieman, Aron Mill, David Denkenberger and Joshua M. Pearce, <u>Quantifying Alternative Food Potential of Agricultural Residue in Rural Communities of Sub-Saharan Africa</u>, *Biomass*, published 2023 by MDPI (CC BY 4.0 license, no changes made).

In an ASRS, a considerable number of leaves would die from the lack of sunlight, including from plants that are not of agricultural origin, and this stock of "killed leaves" has been proposed as a significant source of nutrition which could serve as a "stopgap" food while other interventions are in the deployment stage (Denkenberger and Pearce 2014), but the gathering of these leaves could prove economically challenging. This is in contrast with the LPC utilization of the agricultural residues that could be generated during the ASRS, such as wheat leaves from relocated crops.

Creating a publicly available database of proven safe to eat LPCs is a key opportunity for making LPC more commercially viable, to address the challenge of most leaves not being practical for LPC production. In addition, some leaves commonly used for LPC have anti-nutritional factors (Hussein et al. 1999). Creating such a database could be achieved by using an open-source liquid

chromatography coupled mass spectrometry (LC-MS) toxicity testing pipeline (J. Pearce, Khaksari, and Denkenberger 2019) to quickly assess regionally applicable LPC input sources obtained by a network of locally owned production facilities around the world. There has been some screening of toxins done in various LPCs which indicates that it is safe for human consumption, provided that good practices such as improved residue harvesting and processing methods which reduce mold growth and presence of mycotoxins such as Aflatoxin B1 are used (Meyer et al. 2023), but further validation would be beneficial. Efforts to map the distribution of relevant forest classes and leaf biomass for LPC are important, but more work is needed (Fist et al. 2021). Low tech processing and toxin analysis of common North American coniferous trees indicated potential for consumption (Mottaghi et al. 2023), though harvesting of significant leafy biomass may only be viable in conjunction with harvesting main tree body for other uses, such as fuel or lignocellulosic sugar production (see Section 3.3 on *Food without agriculture*).

3.1.7 Mushrooms

Mushrooms can be grown both outdoors in the natural environment or, more relevant to a global catastrophic scenario, indoors under dark, cool, and slightly damp conditions. They are relatively fast growing as a food source, enabling a quick ramp up to meet a significant fraction of the global caloric needs (Denkenberger and Pearce 2014). It is estimated that in 2021, however, the global mushroom production was 44 million tonnes (FAO 2024), which works out to only about 0.2% of the minimum recommended caloric intake for the global population, as the vast majority of the mushroom mass is water (typically ~85-95%).

The major benefits of mushrooms are that they are easy to grow, can be grown almost anywhere, even on decomposing wood and landfills, can be scaled up quickly as each one produces around a billion spores (Dressaire et al. 2016), and do not require sunlight, making them a promising food source in the event of ASRS. If treated with ultraviolet light, they can be a good source of vitamin D, an essential nutrient which would be difficult to obtain in an ASRS, due to the reduction in sunlight availability for one's skin to absorb it naturally, and the potential risk of trying to do so if the ozone layer is damaged in the ASRS (Pham et al. 2022). This would be especially important if one's diet contains few animal or microbial foods, the only other dietary sources of vitamin D. In addition, the waste from mushroom cultivation could be used as a feed source for organisms such as ruminants that are able to digest cellulose (Denkenberger et al. 2017).

Although mushrooms can convert indigestible plant biomass into food, they are not able to do it as efficiently or at as low of a cost as other food production methods as they have high economic and energy costs per calorie produced (Denkenberger et al. 2018; Salehi et al. 2014). Mushrooms can make significant micronutritional contributions to the diet, however, and automation has been proposed as a means to significantly reduce production cost through reduction of their intensive labor cost. Pilot research to assess the feasibility of individuals growing a large percentage of their calories from mushrooms, perhaps in basements with limited training and electricity, could be relevant for combined ASRS and GCIL scenarios. In addition, work in co-locating mushrooms, which produce carbon dioxide, with photosynthetic forms of indoor growing, like greenhouses, could be valuable to optimize yield per area.

3.1.8 Foraging

Many foods grow in the wild, including garlic, nettle, fungi, seaweed, fruits, and nuts, which can help feed the population in a global catastrophe. Tropical wild edible plants that are traditionally foraged have been proposed as viable for foraging following an ASRS, for both immediate consumption through foraging and for cultivation, such as konjac, wild cassava, vegetable amaranths, and safou (Winstead and Jacobson 2022).

Earthworms are another potentially foraged food which can be obtained through either simple manual means (e.g. charming/grunting) or through more complex means such as mechanical sieving, chemical expellants, or electroshocking (Miller et al. 2024). Earthworm density is extremely high in various regions of the world (Phillips et al. 2019), and the doubling time of an earthworm population is 60–70 days (Sinha 2009). The extraction of earthworms is very labor intensive, however, taking a median 6 hours to obtain a person's daily protein needs, making it too expensive in regions without a very high earthworm density. The median cost to fulfill a person's daily calorie requirement is \$185, but could be as low as \$32 in regions with high earthworm density and low labor costs (Miller et al. 2024), which is still much less affordable than the most promising resilient foods. Another concern with foraging earthworms is that in the event of an ASRS, colder soil temperatures and reduced precipitation may make foraging more difficult. In addition, processing earthworms to be safe for human consumption is technologically intensive (Miller et al. 2024).

Although only a small percentage of the global population still forage for food, the availability of forageable food is still accessible evidenced by the prevalence of the modern foraging movement (Rickard 2022). A downside to foraging is that it requires knowledge of what foods are edible and which are not (or are poisonous) in order to be practical, and this knowledge is quite rare. There has been extensive development of smartphone applications that enable identification of plants which could be used to improve foraging potential, but this still involves risk. More analysis is needed to ascertain the potential of foraging and the means to leverage it as a catastrophe resilience intervention.

3.2 Water-based solutions

3.2.1 Freshwater pond plants, e.g. duckweed

Lemnaceae are the smallest flowering plants on Earth. More commonly referred to as duckweeds or water lentils, they grow in small freshwater bodies and float on the surface. Due to their fast growth rate and nutritional composition, duckweeds are used in numerous sectors including food, pharmaceuticals, and phytoremediation (Baek, Saeed, and Choi 2021). Duckweed is rich in protein (20-35%) and omega 3 fatty acids, and has been historically consumed as food in some South East Asian countries (Appenroth et al., 2017). It has also been approved as a novel food by the European Food Safety Authority (Turck et al. 2023). The global duckweed market is estimated to currently

be worth \$76 million USD and is projected to grow to \$195.4 million by 2033 (Choudhury 2023). Another freshwater pond plant called *Azolla* has been suggested as a potential resilient food for similar reasons and potential advantages over duckweed (Winstead et al. 2024), such as lower nitrogen requirement through nitrogen fixation and higher cold and temperature tolerance, but they are not currently produced in significant quantities.

Duckweed grows exceptionally fast, producing up to 10,000 tonnes dry matter per km² (Cao, Fourounjian, and Wang 2018). Rubisco, a protein that can be derived in large quantities from duckweed, is highly digestible, has a complete nutritional profile, and has numerous beneficial culinary properties (F. G. Pearce and Brunke 2022). For these reasons, companies such as Plantible, Rubisco Proteins, Rubisco Foods, DryGro, Urban Tiller, Sustainable Panet, and Microterra are working on the mass commercialization of Rubisco proteins from duckweed for use in plant-based foods. Freshwater pond plants can be grown on raceway ponds, either outdoors (lower capital requirement), indoors (more control over cultivation conditions), or a combination of both.

Duckweed is resilient to a variety of severe environmental conditions, and it shows promise for extreme food catastrophe resilience thanks to its capacity to grow in low light conditions (i.e. below 25 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹) (Femeena, Roman, and Brennan 2023) — which is even lower than those in a severe ASRS — as well as for its simplicity to cultivate which is relevant to GCIL scenarios. The growth of some species is hindered at temperatures lower than 17°C, but in general they can grow in temperatures as low as 1-3°C and some "even continue to grow during the winter months" (Vymazal 2008). Although under very low light and temperature conditions (below 5°C and 25 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹) the growth of *Lemna minor* was reported to be minimal, good growth rates were achieved at 15°C (Femeena, Roman, and Brennan 2023). The shorter growing seasons in ASRS would complicate duckweed cultivation, but greenhouse systems would alleviate this.

Key challenges of duckweed production are that large biomass volumes are required, the extraction and fractionation processes are inefficient, and purification can be costly (F. G. Pearce and Brunke 2022). Other challenges include: design of cultivation structures, determination of operational conditions, choice of medium type, selection of the duckweed species and lineage, manipulation of the microbiome, and development of harvesting technologies (Coughlan et al. 2022). Economic and scale-up models are needed to characterize the potential of duckweed as a resilient food source for global catastrophes.

3.2.2 Low-tech Microalgae cultivation

Microalgae are microscopic forms of algal biomass which grow in water by fixing CO₂ through photosynthesis using sunlight or other sources of light energy. They are highly nutritious and have a long history of being used for food by people, such as in Chad and Mexico. Microalgae are commercially cultivated in: 1) high-tech photobioreactors using artificial light; 2) translucent photobioreactors (e.g. made of plastic) using sunlight; 3) indoor raceway ponds covered by a temperature-controlled greenhouse; and 4) open air raceway ponds which are a simple way to grow large quantities of biomass at lower cost, but which result in lower yields due to minimal control over growing conditions (García Martínez, Behr, and Denkenberger 2024). Current photobioreactor technology is not resilient to GCIL scenarios and is considerably more energy-

intensive and costly when using artificial light compared to other resilient foods for ASRS response, with state of the art microalgae systems having ~2% conversion efficiency of electricity to calories compared to hydrogenotrophic bacteria at over 10% (García Martínez, Behr, and Denkenberger 2024), so only the other methods are considered potentially relevant here. Cost estimates of microalgae production in open ponds indicate promise, for example, a final slurry product containing 20% mass content of microalgae could be obtained at a cost of ~\$0.70 per dry kg, although producing a food grade and/or dried product could result in much higher costs. More discussion of microalgae can be found in a partner study (García Martínez, Behr, and Denkenberger 2024). Economic and scale-up models are needed to characterize the potential of microalgae in ponds or simple sunlight-based bioreactors as a resilient food source for global catastrophes.

3.2.3 Seaweed

There is considerable underutilized potential for production of seaweed in the ocean, which can be used in a variety of foods consumed directly, or for animal feeds. Cultivation of seaweed can be fairly simple, using minimal technological resources including little more than ropes, buoys, anchors, and boats — although these systems are very labor-intensive, especially when compared with more high-tech automated systems. Seaweed can also be deployed relatively fast without experienced labor using longline systems (Tullberg, Nguyen, and Wang 2022). By increasing seaweed production, there could be numerous benefits towards nutrition, employment, and mitigation of CO₂ emissions, especially through cattle feed (Duarte, Bruhn, and Krause-Jensen 2022).

Seaweed cultivation in the ocean has been performed for centuries in many regions, particularly around East and Southeast Asia, starting in the 1600s in Korea using simple bamboo structures (Hwang et al. 2020), but historically remained fairly small in scale. Cultivation of seaweed has grown tremendously in the past 70 years, reaching 35 million tonnes (wet mass) in 2019 (Cai et al. 2021). At an increased 14% per year growth rate of cultivation, seaweed would yield approximately 500 million tonnes (dry weight) by 2050, which would increase the current world's food supply by about 10%, by taking up only ~0.03% of the ocean surface (World Bank Group 2016). Globally 20–48 million km² are estimated to be suitable for seaweed production with yields of 900–3,300 tonnes (dry)/km²/year (Jehn, Dingal, et al. 2024), implying this area has the potential to produce the equivalent of the global population's calorie requirement many times over.

Research by Jehn et al. indicates that, in less than a year, global seaweed production could be increased to create an equivalent of 45% of the global calorie demand, see Figure 7 (Jehn, Dingal, et al. 2024), although such a degree of scaleup would require scaling up other industries required for the cultivation infrastructure such as rope production. Scaling up the seaweed species currently cultivated as a response to a global catastrophe would increase the availability of food for consumers and feedstock for biochemicals, biofuels or other bioproducts, if needed. The popular but more expensive species of seaweed could be switched to other species with faster growth rates or higher nutritional contents to serve as a quick and scalable addition to people's diets in the event of an ASRS (Jehn, Dingal, et al. 2024). Achieving this is relatively straightforward as different established species of seaweed usually have similar equipment needs and cultivation techniques

(Taelman et al. 2015). Most seaweed cultivation is nearshore in wave-sheltered or semi-sheltered waters (Visch et al. 2023).



Figure 7. a) Global locations of seaweed (*Gracilaria tikvahiae*) growth regime clusters for a 150 Tg nuclear war scenario (3 is high growth, 1 is moderate growth); b) Seaweed production as percent of human food demand for suitable seaweed growth clusters (150 Tg nuclear war scenario and 30% per day as optimal growth rate). This is optimized for meeting an equivalent of 45% of the global human food demand on average for the whole 10 years (gray line), so cluster 1 requires much more area. Material adapted from: Florian Ulrich Jehn, Farrah Jasmine Dingal, Aron Mill, Cheryl Harrison, Ekaterina Ilin, Michael Y. Roleda, Scott C. James, David Denkenberger,

<u>Seaweed as a Resilient Food Solution After a Nuclear War</u>, *Earth's Future*, published 2024 by AGU Publications (<u>CC BY 4.0</u> license, no changes made).

Seaweed production is not only resilient and capable of generating very large amounts of food, but is also cost-effective in ASRS. Hinge et al. estimated that in an ASRS up to ~250 million tonnes/year of dry seaweed could be produced at \$0.50/kg or less, covering ~10% of direct human food needs on a caloric basis, or ~750 million tonnes/year at \$1/kg or less. Roughly half of this cost originates from cultivation and the other half from drying. Seaweed could be produced in significant quantities even using just shallow waters close to ports in a few key areas in the tropics. The countries with the highest production potential in ASRS at low costs are Indonesia, Nigeria, India, Angola, Philippines, Peru, and Mexico (Hinge et al. 2024). Figure 7 shows how the Pacific cold tongue has a vast area of high yield potential, but it would be hard to exploit economically given the deep water and great distance from shore. Perhaps ways to exploit that potential during an ASRS could be found; for example, combining seaweed growth with fishing operations in the area might help.

There is a limit to the amount of seaweed that people could eat due to its high iodine and other mineral content (Jehn, Dingal, et al. 2024), but there are seaweed treatment methods that address this effectively (Zava and Zava 2011). In addition, not all populations can digest seaweed as efficiently. For example, East Asian populations generally have better gut flora for seaweed digestion (Pudlo et al. 2022).

Future work to develop the potential of seaweed to prevent global famine in catastrophes should analyze the scale up of the infrastructure needed for seaweed cultivation and processing, especially drying which can make up a significant share of the final product cost. Pilot testing of rapid seaweed deployment at scale should be done to determine its feasibility for rapid food catastrophe response. Drafting a fast deployment plan to quickly ramp up seaweed cultivation in the event of a global catastrophe could help ensure its success as a resilient food source. This may include rapid tooling (e.g., fiber and rope production, rope twisting) and supply chain risk management (e.g., import and/or export of seeds) as well as personnel deployment planning. Research could be undertaken on the topic of increasing the digestibility of seaweed — especially for populations that have not historically consumed significant quantities and thus may possess suboptimal gut flora — including methods for seaweed processing and extraction of seaweed nutrients, as well as supplements (e.g., probiota) to overcome the challenge of gut flora to aid digestion.

Seaweed cultivation is already commercialized on land in large pools by companies like Acadian Seaplants and could be scaled considerably to provide food during a catastrophe. Future work is needed to assess the potential of onland seaweed cultivation in emergencies at the industrial scale as well as potentially on the community scale by converting hot tubs and pools into seaweed farms. Open-source control systems for photobioreactors could be developed to accelerate both of these potential sources of resilient food.

3.2.4 Regular Fishing

Fish would continue to be a useful food source even in the event of a global catastrophe as they could continue to be harvested normally. The world catches approximately 178 million tonnes (live weight) of aquatic animals (excluding mammals) annually (FAO 2022b). Fishing currently contributes ~35 kcal/person/day to the average diet, equivalent to only ~1.7% of the global human caloric requirement (though it is a considerable ~7% of the protein requirement) (FAO 2020). The amount available in ASRS is uncertain due to conflicting factors, but models point to some reduction in availability. For example, recent physical ocean models suggest that the reduced light and cooler ocean temperatures that would occur during an ASRS would negatively impact fish populations, e.g. with global biomass and catch expected to fall by up to $18 \pm 3\%$ and $29 \pm 7\%$ in a 150 Tg nuclear winter scenario (Harrison et al. 2022; Scherrer et al. 2020), see Figure 8 for various possible scenarios. In an ASRS the increased cooling of the upper layers of the ocean could increase upwelling thus bringing more nutrients to the ocean surface, but models indicate an overall negative effect. (Denkenberger et al. 2017) have also proposed that fertilizing the ocean with macronutrients such as nitrate and phosphate may help maintain fish densities in an ASRS. More research is needed on these uncertainties.



Figure 8. Global fishery developments postwar. Panels show the percent anomaly from the BAU control scenario (dashed line) for all soot inputs (solid lines). Upper row (A-C) shows trajectories of catch, biomass, and fishing effort under BAU fishing, middle row (D-F) shows trajectories under the intensified fishing scenario F+, and lower row (G-I) shows trajectories under the decreased fishing scenarios F-. The shaded areas show SD for the five parameter ensemble runs, while the solid lines are the ensemble mean. The light yellow lines in D-I show the F+ and F- responses in the absence of a climatic perturbation, i.e., the F+ or F- control. Material adapted from: Kim J. N. Scherrer, Cheryl S. Harrison, Ryan F. Heneghan, Eric Galbraith, Charles G. Bardeen, Joshua Coupe, Jonas Jägermeyr, Nicole S. Lovenduski, August Luna, Alan Robock, Jessica Stevens, Samantha Stevenson, Owen B. Toon, and Lili Xia, <u>Marine wild-capture fisheries after nuclear war</u>, *PNAS*, published 2020 by National Academy of Sciences of the US (<u>CC BY-NC-ND 4.0</u> license, no changes made).

The collapse of food webs in a severe ASRS scenario would likely cause a mass extinction event both on land and in the ocean, regardless of the success or failure of resilient food interventions. Impacts on ocean biodiversity and the long term livelihoods of fishers may be reduced in an ASRS by focusing on other resilient food solutions for fulfilling the population's protein requirement. In addition, implementing effective fisheries management prior to a catastrophe would increase the oceans' potential contribution during a global food emergency (Scherrer et al. 2020), while likely reducing the risk of mass ocean collapse resulting from it as well as producing more food in normal conditions.

The likely limiting factor for expanding fishing would be the availability and capacity of fishing boats. Military, shipping, and personal craft boats could, however, potentially be repurposed as fishing vessels and larger boats could be leveraged for ship-to ship cargo transfer to minimize travel distance (Denkenberger and Pearce 2014), and this could warrant pilot testing. One important piece of future work is incorporating nutrients from river runoff into existing fisheries and ocean ASRS models (Harrison et al. 2022; Scherrer et al. 2020).

3.2.5 Deep Sea Fishing (mesopelagic fish)

In the mesopelagic region of the deep sea, there are numerous species of fish which are suitable for human consumption. It has been estimated that there are 10 billion tonnes of mesopelagic fish biomass, likely dominating the world's total fish biomass (Irigoien et al. 2014). This total mass, assuming an average calorie content of ~1,500 kcal/kg based on (Alvheim et al. 2020), equates to just over twice the yearly caloric requirement of the global population. Very limited fishing in this

region is done, however, as the harvesting season is short and the ventures are not always profitable (Fjeld et al. 2023). Between 2015 to 2019, deep sea fishing of 26 vessels in the North-East Atlantic amassed on the order of magnitude of 10^5 tons per year (spending a combined total of ~30,000 hours per year fishing) (Paoletti et al. 2021).

Many species of fish found in the mesopelagic region are high in omega-3 fatty acids and other key micronutrients (Alvheim et al. 2020). Deep sea fishing could make significant contributions during an ASRS as it is currently underexploited and could be a reliable source of fish when regular fish populations decline, as suggested by (Scherrer et al. 2020). Specialized shipping vessels for deep sea fishing are likely not required, but the vessels should be capable of capturing various different species of fish (Fjeld et al. 2023). Although deep sea fishing has the potential to be profitable, in some locations the catch per ship would be too low, with high bycatch (Paoletti et al. 2021). Preliminary analysis is needed to characterize the potential, cost, and feasibility of rapid mass deployment of mesopelagic fishing technologies for ASRS and GCIL response. This should look at the potential for converting bycatch to food and any technical improvements to be made to make deep-sea fishing economic. If the potential was high, a pilot demonstration of repurposing ships into fishing vessels would be valuable.

3.2.6 Krill Fishing

Krill, a well-known type of mesopelagic crustacean, are a common food source for many marine animals, but they are also suitable for direct human consumption. It is one of the most numerous animals on Earth, with an estimated biomass of at least 379 million tonnes (wet) around the poles (Atkinson et al. 2009). Primarily Antarctic krill (*E. superba*) are fished in the Southwest Atlantic using trawlers, as well as North Pacific krill (*E. pacifica*), with a total annual catch of 450,000 tonnes (Cappell, MacFadyen, and Constable 2022). From a nutritional perspective, krill is an excellent protein, containing every essential amino acid, and is high in antioxidants and omega-3, calcium, phosphate, magnesium, and vitamins A and E (Tou, Jaczynski, and Chen 2007).

The low availability of infrastructure and knowledge to catch krill is a critical limitation for krill fishing as a resilient food intervention. Other limitations include a better understanding of krill population management and more accurate population monitoring technology (Nicol, Foster, and Kawaguchi 2012). Preliminary analysis is needed to characterize the potential, cost, and feasibility of rapid mass deployment of krill fishing technologies for ASRS and GCIL response. It is likely that existing trawling fishing vessels and personnel could be utilized to increase krill catch (Nicol, Foster, and Kawaguchi 2012), and this could be tested as a catastrophe preparedness pilot experiment. Future research could also investigate low-cost industrial and distributed means to manufacture the fine mesh nets needed for harvesting krill.

3.2.7 Bivalve Cultivation

Bivalves, including clams, oysters, cockles, mussels, and scallops, can be grown similar to seaweed, on ropes suspended in the water from a long line supported by buoys, and feed on widely

available phytoplankton. Global bivalve production was on average ~15 million tonnes per annum between 2010-2015, with 89% of that coming from aquaculture (Wijsman et al. 2019). Bivalve production yields vary considerably depending on the species and environment, but reported values for mussels are high, ranging between 6,000-59,400 tonne/km²/year (Gren 2019), or roughly 1,300-13,000 tonnes (dry)/km²/year. Within the exclusive economic zones of suitable countries, 31 million km² are estimated to be environmentally suitable for molluscs (Oyinlola et al. 2018), a fraction of which would suffice to cover the equivalent of the global population's caloric requirement even at the lower end of yield — which is probably more representative of a farming style not requiring external nutrient addition. Considering only the coastlines, where production would be most economical, the potential of bivalve mariculture has been estimated at 592 megatonne (Willer, Nicholls, and Aldridge 2021), which at 80% water content would cover ~7% of the global food requirement.

What makes bivalves a promising resilient food technology is their simple cultivation (Helm and Bourne 2004), high nutritional value, existence of a developed industry, and resilience to sunlight reduction — their primary substrate (phytoplankton) is less affected by changes in sunlight than land crops (Harrison et al. 2022; Xia et al. 2022). 50-70% of the calorie content of bivalves comes from protein, and they provide complete proteins, are a great source of sodium, potassium, calcium, magnesium, iron, zinc, copper, and chromium, and are rich in polyunsaturated fatty acids with high levels of DHA and EPA (Karnjanapratum et al. 2013), unlike many other resilient foods which are poor in essential fatty acids. The cost of producing bivalves is between \$1-4/kg (wet) (Wijsman et al. 2019), which at 80% water content translates to \$5-20/kg (dry) or \$2.50-10.00 to fulfill a person's daily caloric requirement, higher than other resilient foods.

Further research is needed to characterize the potential, cost, and feasibility of rapid mass deployment of bivalve cultivation technologies for ASRS and GCIL response. Other relevant questions include: how bivalves would be affected by reduced phytoplankton productivity during a nuclear winter, where they could be grown, and whether they could be co-produced with seaweed effectively during ASRS.

3.2.8 Integrated Multi-Trophic Aquaculture (IMTA)

IMTA comprises the cultivation of fed species of sea animals (such as finfish or shrimp) along with extractive species, such as suspension-feeding (e.g., mussels and oysters) as well as deposit-feeding (e.g., sea-cucumbers and sea-urchins) invertebrates, and seaweed that are fertilized by the organic and inorganic waste from the fed species (Buck et al. 2018). The fed species are kept in enclosed netted areas, the suspension-feeding invertebrates and macroalgae are grown on moored submerged longlines, and the deposit-feeding invertebrates are kept in cages on the seafloor (Tzachor, Richards, and Holt 2021).

IMTA can be implemented in temperate waters and has been demonstrated in the waters of Canada, Chile, China, France, Ireland, Norway, Portugal, Spain, South Africa, the United Kingdom (mostly Scotland), and the U.S. (Barrington, Chopin, and Robinson 2009). It has potential for wide-scale use since between 25 million and 31 million km² of the ocean are considered to be environmentally suitable for both finfish and molluscs (Oyinlola et al. 2018). The pioneering IMTA system in

Sanggou Bay, China, boasts a biomass production yield of 2,400 tonne/km²/year (Fang et al. 2016) — even at a fraction of this yield, an area of 25 million km² should suffice to cover global calorie requirements, although production may only be economic in the subset of this area closest to the coast. During an ASRS, water temperatures would change, so the coasts of the tropics could become more temperate, making it a more viable option for IMTA. Small scale implementations of near shore versions of IMTA systems are relatively simple to construct (Parappurathu et al. 2023), and progress is being made towards making IMTA relatively effective, low-investment, and low-maintenance (Resende et al. 2022). Presently, China is the world leader in IMTA, generating more than 40% of its mariculture production of 14 million tonnes (including shells) of shellfish and 25 million tonnes (wet weight) of seaweeds (FAO 2022a). Incentives for developing IMTA are lacking, but changes to current regulations and policies, such as requiring aquaculture operations to internalize nutrient discharge costs, would incentivize the development of IMTA from the pilot scale to the commercial scale in new regions (Chopin 2013). Future research on the potential, cost, and feasibility of rapid mass deployment of bivalve and seaweed cultivation in ASRS and GCIL should include IMTA.

3.3 Food without agriculture - high tech solutions for ASRS

Modern industrial technologies such as fermentation, biosynthesis, and chemical synthesis enable enormous potential for the production of food virtually independent of environmental conditions, using CO₂, biomass, or hydrocarbons as raw materials. Developed in the last century, these methods can not only produce all 3 macronutrients (see Figure 9), but also key micronutrients such as vitamins, essential amino acids and essential fatty acids, especially through precision fermentation. These technologies and their application for food production, especially in conditions of extreme agricultural catastrophe such as an ASRS, are discussed in-depth in the review article complementing the current one by (García Martínez, Behr, and Denkenberger 2024).



Figure 9. Schematic of selected pathways to synthesize food without agriculture. Material reprinted from: Steven Davis, Kathleen Alexander, Juan Moreno-Cruz, Chaopeng Hong, Matthew Shaner, Ken Caldeira & Ian McKay, Food without agriculture, *Nature Sustainability*, published 2023 by Springer Nature (<u>CC BY 4.0</u> license, no changes made). Other relevant pathways (not pictured) include the conversion of biomass to carbohydrates through methods other than gasification, the conversion of those sugars to proteins, fats, and essential micronutrients through fermentation, or the cultivation of photosynthetic microorganisms.

Further research is needed on most of these technologies, but at least two of these are particularly promising for helping prevent a global catastrophic food failure: 1) the production of single cell protein from methane (e.g. in natural gas or biogas) can be an affordable, widespread, high-quality source of proteins and even some fats and carbohydrates in catastrophic scenarios (García Martínez et al. 2022); and 2) the conversion of lignocellulosic biomass to sugar (Throup et al. 2022). The latter could be used not only as an affordable caloric contribution in ASRS — especially when obtained through rapid repurposing of paper mills and second generation biorefineries — but also as a platform for precision fermentation to obtain all kinds of essential nutrients fundamental for

human health, to prevent malnutrition. Of note is the capacity to produce micronutrients which could be scarce in an ASRS, such as essential fatty acids and certain vitamins. Vitamin C is already produced industrially at 140,000 tonnes/year, and lysine at 2.2 million tonnes/year (García Martínez, Behr, and Denkenberger 2024).

In an agricultural catastrophe, these technologies could serve multiple purposes: 1) to be used as food ingredients to counter agricultural yield reduction if needed such as in major crisis scenarios (e.g. ASRS); 2) to secure the animal feed supply required to keep animal agriculture sectors afloat; and 3) as an intermediate for strategic production, for example, cellulosic sugar could be used as a fermentation platform for strategic production of nutrients (vitamins, omega fats, etc.) or even biofuels if a fuel shortage is involved. For example, converting the entire global production of roundwood and agricultural residues to sugars could produce an amount of calories equivalent to the entire global population's caloric requirement, at an estimated cost of \$0.43-0.91 to provide a person's daily caloric requirement (Throup et al. 2022). Converting the entire global production of natural gas to food through single cell protein production results in nearly 3 times the caloric requirement of the global population, or 9 - 15 times the protein requirement, with models indicating that fulfilling the global protein requirement using this technology could be done in a few years — at an estimated cost of \$1.65-2.81 to provide a person's daily caloric requirement (García Martínez et al. 2022). Paraffins derived from oil could be converted into synthetic fats to produce 8-17% of the global caloric requirements at an estimated cost of \$0.74-2.71 to provide a person's daily caloric requirement (García Martínez, Alvarado, and Denkenberger 2022; García Martínez, Behr, and Denkenberger 2024). Other methods of this kind are discussed in Appendix A.

To increase agricultural catastrophe resilience and technology deployment speed, investments can be made in non-agricultural resilient foods, including constructing a fast pilot (24/7 construction) methane single cell protein (García Martínez et al. 2022) and lignocellulosic sugar production plant, and pilot repurposing facilities like paper factories for sugar conversion (Throup et al. 2022). Further repurposing potential analyses should be done for other industries and high-tech industrial foods, such as for repurposing breweries to SCP production. Future research could also focus on process development, food safety, and product development research on converting other widespread non-agricultural inputs into food, and establishing safety and quality standards. Finally, forming public-private partnerships with pioneering companies could offer insights into scaling up production effectively, and leveraging current commercial trials in various feed markets to potentially achieve economies of production scale similar to the learning curves seen in renewable energy (García Martínez, Behr, and Denkenberger 2024). Lastly, for each type of hightech solution efforts can be made to make open-source small-scale systems that can be mass replicated to provide distributed resilient food production.

4 Policy work on resilient food solutions and related interventions

In 2021, the United Nations Secretary General made a call for "defining, identifying, assessing and managing existential risks" as part of the UN Common Agenda. These risks may comprise the majority of the risk threatening modern societies, but they are rarely considered as such in

governmental risk management policies (Boyd and Wilson 2023b). Addressing tail risks of food systems is a neglected priority of our time in line with this thinking, and public policy must be applied in tandem with resilient food technology research and development to mitigate global catastrophic risk and existential risk related to food systems. Various groups are currently working to produce such policies.

Reports scoping out national risk preparedness plans to prevent a food failure in case of an ASRS have been produced for several countries, such as for Argentina (Ulloa Ruiz et al. 2024), by the Alliance to Feed the Earth in Disasters (ALLFED) and the Observatorio de Riesgos Catastróficos Globales (ORCG), and for New Zealand (Boyd, Payne, et al. 2023). There is historical precedent for this type of risk preparedness plans against other high-impact low-probability hazards, both natural (e.g., tsunamis) and anthropogenic (e.g., nuclear plant accidents). These efforts have called for establishing the national capability to deploy the resilient food interventions described in the current work, as well as complementary ASRS interventions to maintain equitable food access (rationing, producer subsidies, price controls, food vouchers), and highlighting the importance of international cooperation, water management, flexible legislation to reduce food-based biofuel production quotas, and food waste reduction in ASRS. Figure 10 shows the estimated increase in food production in Argentina for increasing levels of implementation of disaster response policies including resilient foods, demonstrating how they could not only potentially avoid a national famine but vastly increase food production in the region (Ulloa Ruiz et al. 2024), reducing the risk of conflict and refugee crises.



Figure 10. Estimated increase in food production in Argentina in terms of people fed for increasing levels of implementation of relevant disaster response policies, including resilient foods. The first bar is current net food production, and the rest represent 150 Tg ASRS conditions with increasing adaptations from left to right — meaning the last column includes not just increased area and greenhouses but also rationing, redirection, and resilient food deployment. Material reprinted from: Mónica A. Ulloa Ruiz, Jorge A. Torres Celis, Morgan Rivers, David C. Denkenberger, Juan B. García Martínez, <u>Soluciones alimentarias resilientes para evitar la hambruna masiva durante un invierno nuclear en Argentina</u>, published 2024 by *Revista de Estudios Latinoamericanos sobre Reducción del Riesgo de Desastres REDER*, (<u>CC BY-NC 4.0</u> license, translated, minor edits).

(Boyd, Payne, et al. 2023) have presented an extensive set of recommendations for New Zealand to be used as the basis of a plan to weather a nuclear war between foreign powers, discussing not only how to prevent a nuclear winter-induced food failure in the region but also focusing on maintaining provision of other critical infrastructure needs (energy, water, transport, communications) in the face of other extreme consequences that may arise in the scenario, such as a loss of international trade and coordination. Among these, the report contains many which are applicable to any other country: development of a National Food Security Strategy that includes these shocks (vulnerability assessments, quantification and supply of food, water and energy needs, infrastructure needs), development of plans for fuel management in catastrophe (supply, rationing, and deployment of fuel alternatives like biofuel), targeted investments (strategic stockpiles of seeds, agricultural inputs, and critical parts for machinery, information infrastructure for dissemination of contingency plans, biorefining capacity), establishing collaboration agreements with neighboring nations in case of global food crises, and assessment of the local cost-effectiveness of these resilience options.

Finally, Glomseth has called for ASRS preparedness in Norway, suggesting a cross-sectoral collaboration between the Norwegian food and trade ministries, civil protection agency, and Nuclear Safety Authority (Glomseth 2024).

National contingency plans can be developed to maintain the population's basic needs even in the case of a GCIL, incorporating a "reverse roadmap" that describes how to temporarily return to less advanced agriculture, water provision and energy systems. These could draw from historical case studies such as the example of Cuba in the post-Soviet Collapse, as highlighted by (Boyd, Payne, et al. 2023), whose numerous recommendations for contingency planning are also relevant to GCIL planning. Agronomic research in current subsistence agricultural production systems could also be relevant to this effort. It should be noted that no historical case studies provide quite the necessary context for this work, which is a challenge of this type of extrapolative research.

5 Discussion and future work

5.1 Deep uncertainty and scenario characterization work

The field of research on resilient foods deals with mitigating the impact of a range of extreme catastrophic scenarios with limited historical precedents. While scenario characterization is not the focus of the current work, it is important to clarify the presence of fundamental uncertainties involved. There remains significant uncertainty on the risk distribution and degrees of severity to be expected, both for ASRS and GCIL, as well as the probability of the scenarios materializing from different hazards (Denkenberger et al. 2021; Denkenberger et al. 2022). For example, the risk distribution of ASRS scenarios is not well studied, with milder scenarios more likely than more severe scenarios, and with varying degrees of severity and probability depending on origin (volcanic, nuclear, or asteroid/comet). Another example is how, for nuclear ASRS, uncertainty remains in myriad factors such as the probability distribution of the number of nuclear weapons likely to be used in the conflict, the types of targets and their flammability, and the likelihood of generated sun-blocking particles reaching the stratosphere (Hess 2021; Pinsent and Tan 2024), to name some. For GCIL, there also remains uncertainty as to how likely the related hazards are (e.g. HEMP, solar storms, cyberattacks, pandemics) and what degree of supply chain disruption they would entail (Denkenberger et al. 2021; Denkenberger et al. 2022). For both ASRS and GCIL, a considerable uncertainty is to what degree reduced coordination and cooperation may hinder food responses regardless of prior preparation, and how much the development and knowledge of resilient foods can prevent these instabilities from becoming unmanageable. In other words: is there a degree of shock at which societal systems collapse no matter how much preparation is in place, perhaps due to breakdown of social order? Or can a sufficiently fast and effective response prevent this?

All of these considerations and more are fundamental to mounting an effective catastrophe response. The degree and type of the shock determines which of the interventions should be prioritized. Consider different types of scenarios: 1) a mild ASRS with minimal supply disruption, in which the best move is probably to prioritize interventions aimed at maintaining food trade and increasing food conservation, such as redirecting crops away from animal agriculture and biofuel production; 2) a severe nuclear winter, which would require a much more comprehensive food resilience response with varying degrees of deployment of many or all of the foods described in this work across all levels of technological sophistication; 3) a scenario with both severe ASRS and GCIL which would severely constrain the response to food conservation and ASRS-resilient foods based on simple technologies (see the top right quadrant of Figure 3, and for more discussion of this scenario see (Denkenberger et al. 2017)).

This is why it is important to have a portfolio of resilient foods ready to be deployed, allowing people to respond and provide enough food given the large variety of possible future shocks — this variety of options, known as response diversity, is the basis for adaptive behavior (Walker et al. 2023). In addition, further research is needed to bound these risks, which would inform both which interventions are the most important for response across all hazards, and what level of resilience investment is warranted to insure people against them. Finally, uncertainties around the flexibility of markets and nations to redirect resources and engage in response interventions inside

and outside of their borders warrant future work on resource distribution such as integrated models (Rivers et al. 2024) and economic analyses of resilient foods responses in a variety of scenarios.

5.2 Future work on resilient food research and development

A long list of future research and development areas have been proposed in the sections of each food production method. This section focuses on summarizing at a high level and discussing additional ideas not focused on one particular food.

Basic research work is still needed on food production methods, production ramp-up, and technology deployment, as well as research on the nutrition and safety of some of the more novel foods. For example, some resilient foods would benefit from conducting food safety and nutritional studies which verify that the novel foods created from these technologies are safe and nutritional for human consumption in the long term, such as the different types of leaf protein concentrate, some seaweeds, or some novel industrial foods. In addition, basic analysis of key metrics to characterize the potential of various food production methods (cost, speed, and feasibility of mass scale deployment in catastrophe conditions) is still missing, such as for expanding planted area, krill fishing, bivalve cultivation, IMTA, leaf protein concentrates, duckweed, foraged resources, and various technologies for industrial production of food without agriculture. A technical readiness level analysis of all resilient foods could be made for both industrial and small-distributed scale. For those with a lower technology readiness level, optimizing existing production processes may yet be needed. Research on decentralized food production would also be beneficial, including the production of open-source engineering designs for food production equipment, and the study of the potential of ramping up urban agriculture.

Finally, and most importantly, further development and piloting of resilient food technologies would be conducive to a faster response, through rapid deployment including fast construction and repurposing, as described throughout Section 3. Future research will focus on analyzing in more depth the technology readiness level of resilient food solutions and what research and development is needed to improve it.

5.3 Future work on critical infrastructure resilience for GCRs

There is a long list of research projects that would support food resilience and other critical infrastructure resilience against global catastrophic risks such as an ASRS or GCIL. From (Boyd, Payne, et al. 2023) several items for further research in the field are clear, which could be applied to any region of the world for food resilience, perhaps funded by the local government. These include: 1) determining logistics of supplying minimal fuel for agricultural equipment, and minimal agricultural inputs (especially if these are normally imported), 2) quantifying current food production and distribution under nuclear winter and zero trade/scarce fuel conditions, and 3) investigating the possibility of rapidly switching from diesel to electrification or biofuels for agriculture and supply chains in nations dependent on imported fuel to respond to a trade breakdown. Denkenberger et al. have proposed research on rapid deployment of many

interventions for resilience to GCIL, including: 1) burning wood from landfills to provide an alternative to synthetic fertilizer; 2) rapid deployment of nitrogen fixing crops including legumes (peas, beans, etc.); 3) nonindustrial pest control; 4) low-tech alternatives to current fuels in supply chains, such as biomass gasifier systems (Nelson, Turchin, and Denkenberger 2024; Vennard, Pearce, and Denkenberger 2024) or retrofitting appropriate vessels to use wind power; 5) retrofitting widespread technology such as household ovens for space heating (Jose et al. 2024); and 6) alternative communication systems such as EMP-hardened satellites or a network of shortwave radios (Denkenberger et al. 2017; Denkenberger et al. 2021). Backup energy generation plans for ASRS scenarios should be researched, considering increased future renewable energy penetration (e.g. rapid solar photovoltaic deployments underway), since a severe ASRS could reduce combined wind and solar energy generation by up to 59% (Varne et al. 2024). Interventions for providing other critical needs such as water, medicine and mental health should be studied. Finally, investing in satellite monitoring capabilities for soot or particulate emissions would help characterize the magnitude of shocks and expedite resilient food responses when needed.

5.4 Future work on GCR policy

At the national level, every government can develop a comprehensive National Food Security Strategy that tackles risks impacting food supply and corresponding resilience measures (Rivers et al. 2024; Boyd, Payne, et al. 2023; Ulloa Ruiz et al. 2024). They can also implement legislation for in-depth analysis of GCRs such as the Global Catastrophic Risk Mitigation Act of the USA (Sepasspour 2023), incorporate global agricultural catastrophes to their national risk assessments (Boyd and Wilson 2023b), develop government protocols that facilitate rapid adaptation of the food system and efficient scaling-up of resilient food solutions (i.e., response plans), and stimulate investment in the research and development of mitigation interventions as described in this work. This would all be done most effectively through an all-hazards policy approach (Sepasspour 2023; Boyd, Payne, et al. 2023). An impactful first step would be the formation of a national committee or task force to make recommendations on improving preparedness and response to global agricultural catastrophes, and identifying national food system vulnerabilities. Community consultations (surveys, citizen assemblies, Polis-type engagement) may also be useful (Boyd, Payne, et al. 2023).

At the international level, work could involve advocacy on multilateral resolutions that increase resilience to global catastrophic food failures, for example: UN proposals on how countries ought to collaborate and maintain trade in a catastrophe, share intellectual property in areas of resilient food, or make adjustments to international rules. Jehn et al. estimated that the unequally distributed food production disruptions in ASRS would require radical changes in trading partners, with most countries losing 50-100% of their imports (Jehn, Gajewski, et al. 2024). This transition could be eased through pre-catastrophe international trade agreements, but national actions may differ from international agreements in such crisis situations, especially in the absence of enforcement mechanisms (Hoffman et al. 2022), which complicates multilateral advocacy.

6 Concluding remarks

Catastrophes such as nuclear war or volcanic eruption could trigger a breakdown in the environmental conditions on which global food production depends (sunlight, temperature, precipitation), potentially reducing it by up to 90%. A collapse of critical global infrastructures, perhaps triggered by nuclear electromagnetic pulse, solar storm or extreme pandemic, could reduce crop production by 35-48% due to lack of agricultural inputs. Future developments in AI might facilitate similar catastrophes through coordinated cyber-attacks, or biotechnological development of new highly contagious and deadly viruses or new plant pathogens. At present, the world is ill-equipped to deal with these scenarios: food reserves could be depleted in a matter of months.

This work reviews the field of resilient food adaptations to these global catastrophic food shock scenarios, divided in four categories: 1) food conservation solutions (prioritizing crops away from animal feed and biofuels for human food, reducing food waste); 2) land-based solutions such as grass- and plant-waste-based animal agriculture optimization, relocating resilient crops, greenhouses, expanding cropland, and producing leaf protein; 3) water-based solutions (duckweed, algae, fishing, bivalves); and 4) high-tech industrial solutions for the production of food without agriculture. Included are both novel foods selected for their resilience and affordability in the face of catastrophe (single cell proteins, lignocellulosic sugar, leaf protein, etc.), as well as mature food production methods whose scalability is well known: crop relocation, ruminants, greenhouses, seaweed, fishing, bivalves, and mushrooms. Extensive recommendations for future research and development include rapid deployment trials and 24/7 construction pilots, production ramp-up and economic analyses, and food safety studies. The policy literature advocates for integrating these interventions into disaster preparedness. Recommendations include incorporating global catastrophes into national risk assessments and food strategies, developing national preparedness plans, forming task forces for global catastrophe resilience, and investing in rapid response capabilities.

Deep uncertainty, however, remains regarding the risk distribution of these hazards. Effective catastrophe response depends on the specific scenario, with varying strategies needed depending on its severity and specifics. Thus, developing a diverse portfolio of resilience interventions and a better understanding of the risks is crucial for ensuring food security in the face of global catastrophes.

Funding

This research was supported by the Alliance to Feed the Earth in Disasters (ALLFED) and the Thompson Endowment.

Acknowledgements

Thanks to Kyle Alvarado, Florian Ulrich Jehn, Noah Wescombe, Michael Hinge, Luísa Lopes Monteiro, and Morgan Rivers for their insights. Thanks to Isabel Johnson for language editing. Special thanks to Alix Pham for creating illustrations and to Alex van Domburg for aid with the quadrant visualization.

CREDIT author statement

Juan B. García Martínez: Conceptualization, Visualization, Writing - Original Draft, Writing - Review & Editing, Project Administration, Funding acquisition, Supervision.

Jeffray Behr: Visualization, Writing - Original Draft, Writing - Review & Editing.

Joshua Pearce: Writing - Review & Editing.

David C. Denkenberger: Writing - Review & Editing, Funding acquisition.

Appendix A: Notable interventions not included

There are some notable food production methods that have been discussed in the relevant literature, but which were not included in the list of resilient foods. One notable example are non-cellulose digesting animals, which currently make a considerable contribution to diets globally, mostly in the form of grain-fed pigs and chickens. (Denkenberger and Pearce 2014) discussed the possibility of rearing small, quickly reproducing animals such as chickens, rabbits, rats, detritivorous arthropods and fish whose production could be scaled quickly given the right feeds. As described in Section 3.1.1, however, these are generally dependent on human-edible crops that may be better directly consumed by humans in a catastrophe, and thus cannot be considered as a truly resilient primary food source. Although rats and pigs have some capacity to partially digest cellulose through their internal microbiota and rabbits are monogastric hindgut fermenters that can survive on fresh grass only, majority grass feeds are not used in commercial operations because these animals are not efficient enough at digesting lignocellulose. There may, however, be cases where it is locally efficient to do this as a form of upcycling low nutrition crops, food waste, or partially decomposed leaves into highly nutritious meats. Rabbits are already harvested at scale in many countries and can be more feed-efficient than chicken meat production — but not egg production (Meyer et al. 2021).

Another notable example is the application of artificial light, including technologies such as vertical farming of vegetables, or growing microalgae in photobioreactors, which is the most efficient artificial light option (Alvarado et al. 2021). While it may at first appear to be a reasonable alternative in scenarios like ASRS where photosynthetic crops are severely affected, it is generally prohibitively expensive compared to alternatives, at a cost of hundreds of dollars to fulfill a person's daily calorie requirement (Denkenberger et al. 2018). There exist technologies for the production of food that are significantly more efficient at converting electricity into calories, such as single cell proteins obtained through electrolysis (García Martínez, Behr, and Denkenberger 2024). There may, however, be some uses of artificial light which might make economic sense on the margin in the framework of a resilient food response to ASRS, such as the strategic application of some artificial light in greenhouses to improve overall yields (Alvarado et al. 2020). There may also be some catastrophic scenarios warranting the application of artificial light for food production locally, such as high latitude regions with large electricity production in ASRS if international trade is not possible. As indoor growing becomes more efficient, future research may be warranted in the economic viability of this pathway.

There exist myriad other processes to produce food independently of sunlight and other environmental conditions through industrial technologies in addition to those highlighted in section 4, which have not been included here due to uncertainties in their potential as a resilient food technology compared with alternatives, including single cell proteins from hydrogen feedstock produced by electrolysis or biomass gasification (García Martínez, Egbejimba, et al. 2021), or from other feedstocks such as peat, methanol, paraffins, gas oil, and plastics; as well as methods to produce food involving microbial electrosynthesis (García Martínez, Brown, et al. 2021), in vitro BioTransformation or chemical synthesis of carbohydrates and carboxylic acids (García Martínez, Behr, and Denkenberger 2024). Production of lignocellulosic sugar, which is promising at a large scale for ASRS response, can also be successfully done at a small household scale (Siva and Anderson 2023; Siva and Anderson 2024). It may not, however, be practicable due

to the complexity of sourcing sufficient enzymes for efficient sugar extraction, although cellulaseproducing fungal species might help realize this at a community level. In addition, the household process would need to demonstrate its food safety, for example, with sufficiently low levels of toxins such as furfural.

It is also worth noting that several interventions for mitigation of a global catastrophic food failure were not included because they are outside of the scope of this work. One example are speculative geoengineering response interventions that have been proposed for mitigation of ASRS, such as interventions that may prevent or mollify supervolcanic eruptions (Denkenberger and Blair 2018), or intentional release of fluorinated gasses (Xu et al. 2023). Another example are policy efforts for GCR prevention, such as nuclear diplomacy, because of this article's focus on response and resilience. Prevention of a nuclear war or other types of attacks (e.g. digital, biological) leading to a global catastrophe is unambiguously the best outcome and should continue to be pursued in parallel to food resilience efforts.

References

- Alvarado, Kyle A., Juan B. García Martínez, Silvio Matassa, Joseph Egbejimba, and David Denkenberger. 2021. Food in Space from Hydrogen-Oxidizing Bacteria. Acta Astronautica 180 (March):260–265. doi:10.1016/j.actaastro.2020.12.009.
- Alvarado, Kyle A., Aron Mill, Joshua Pearce, Alexander Vocaet, and David Denkenberger.
 2020. Scaling of Greenhouse Crop Production in Low Sunlight Scenarios. *Science of The Total Environment* 707 (March):136012. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.136012.
- Alvheim, Anita R., Marian Kjellevold, Espen Strand, Monica Sanden, and Martin Wiech. 2020. Mesopelagic Species and Their Potential Contribution to Food and Feed Security—A Case Study from Norway. *Foods* 9 (3). Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute:344. doi:10.3390/foods9030344.
- Anoop, A. A., Prasanth K. S. Pillai, Michael Nickerson, and K. V. Ragavan. 2023. Plant Leaf Proteins for Food Applications: Opportunities and Challenges. *Comprehensive Reviews in Food Science and Food Safety* 22 (1):473–501. doi:10.1111/1541-4337.13079.
- Aschemann-Witzel, Jessica, Daniele Asioli, Marija Banovic, Maria Angela Perito, Anne Odile Peschel, and Violeta Stancu. 2023. Defining Upcycled Food: The Dual Role of Upcycling in Reducing Food Loss and Waste. *Trends in Food Science & Technology* 132 (February):132–137. doi:10.1016/j.tifs.2023.01.001.
- Atkinson, A., V. Siegel, E. A. Pakhomov, M. J. Jessopp, and V. Loeb. 2009. A Re-Appraisal of the Total Biomass and Annual Production of Antarctic Krill. *Deep Sea Research Part I: Oceanographic Research Papers* 56 (5):727–740. doi:10.1016/j.dsr.2008.12.007.
- Avin, Shahar, Bonnie C. Wintle, Julius Weitzdörfer, Seán S. Ó hÉigeartaigh, William J. Sutherland, and Martin J. Rees. 2018. Classifying Global Catastrophic Risks. *Futures*, Futures of research in catastrophic and existential risk, 102 (September):20–26. doi:10.1016/j.futures.2018.02.001.
- Ayyat, Mohamed Salah, Gamal Abdel-Rahman, Ahmed Mohamed Nabil Ayyat, Mohamed S. Abdel-Rahman, and Adham A. Al-Sagheer. 2021. Evaluation of Leaf Protein Concentrate from *Beta Vulgaris* and *Daucus Carota* as a Substitute for Soybean Meal in *Oreochromis Niloticus* Fingerlings Diets. *Aquaculture Research* 52 (7):3256–3269. doi:10.1111/are.15171.
- Baek, GahYoung, Maham Saeed, and Hyung-Kyoon Choi. 2021. Duckweeds: Their Utilization, Metabolites and Cultivation. *Applied Biological Chemistry* 64 (1):73. doi:10.1186/s13765-021-00644-z.
- Barrington, Kelly, Thierry Chopin, and Shawn Robinson. 2009. Integrated Multi-Trophic Aquaculture (IMTA) in Marine Temperate Waters. In *Integrated Mariculture: A Global Review*, 7–46.
- Baum, Seth D., Stuart Armstrong, Timoteus Ekenstedt, Olle Häggström, Robin Hanson, Karin Kuhlemann, Matthijs M. Maas, James D. Miller, Markus Salmela, Anders Sandberg, et al. 2019. Long-Term Trajectories of Human Civilization. *Foresight* 21 (1). Emerald Publishing Limited:53–83. doi:10.1108/FS-04-2018-0037.
- Bengio, Yoshua, Geoffrey Hinton, Andrew Yao, Dawn Song, Pieter Abbeel, Trevor Darrell, Yuval Noah Harari, Ya-Qin Zhang, Lan Xue, Shai Shalev-Shwartz, et al. 2024.
 Managing Extreme AI Risks amid Rapid Progress. *Science* 384 (6698). American Association for the Advancement of Science:842–845. doi:10.1126/science.adn0117.
- Bhat, Kaisar Ahmad, Reetika Mahajan, Mohammad Maqbool Pakhtoon, Uneeb Urwat, Zaffar Bashir, Ali Asghar Shah, Ankit Agrawal, Basharat Bhat, Parvaze A. Sofi, Antonio Masi,

et al. 2022. Low Temperature Stress Tolerance: An Insight Into the Omics Approaches for Legume Crops. *Frontiers in Plant Science* 13. doi:https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2022.888710.

- Bordiean, Anna, Michał Krzyżaniak, Mariusz Stolarski, and Dumitru Peni. 2020. Growth Potential of Yellow Mealworm Reared on Industrial Residues. *Agriculture* 10 (December):599. doi:10.3390/agriculture10120599.
- Bostrom, Nick, and Milan M. Cirkovic. 2008. *Global Catastrophic Risks*. Oxford: Oxford University Press, Oxford.
- Boyd, Matt, Ben Payne, Sam Ragnarsson, and Nick Wilson. 2023. *Aotearoa NZ, Global Catastrophe, and Resilience Options: Overcoming Vulnerability to Nuclear War and Other Extreme Risks*. Reefton: Aotearoa NZ Catastrophe Resilience Project (NZCat) Adapt Research Ltd. https://adaptresearch.files.wordpress.com/2023/11/231117-v1-nzcat-resilience-nuclear-gcrs-1.pdf.
- Boyd, Matt, Sam Ragnarsson, Simon Terry, Ben Payne, and Nick Wilson. 2023. Mitigating Imported Fuel Dependency in Agricultural Production: Case Study of an Island Nation's Vulnerability to Global Catastrophic Risks. doi:https://doi.org/10.21203/rs.3.rs-3273609/v2.
- Boyd, Matt, and Nick Wilson. 2023a. Island Refuges for Surviving Nuclear Winter and Other Abrupt Sunlight-Reducing Catastrophes. *Risk Analysis* 43 (9):1824–1842. doi:10.1111/risa.14072.
- Boyd, Matt, and Nick Wilson. 2023b. Assumptions, Uncertainty, and Catastrophic/Existential Risk: National Risk Assessments Need Improved Methods and Stakeholder Engagement. *Risk Analysis* n/a (n/a). doi:10.1111/risa.14123.
- Boyd, Matt, and Nick Wilson. 2024. Combining Urban and Peri-Urban Agriculture for Resilience to Global Catastrophic Risks Disrupting Trade: Quantified Case Study of a Median-Sized City. doi:10.21203/rs.3.rs-4590974/v1.
- Buck, Bela H., Max F. Troell, Gesche Krause, Dror L. Angel, Britta Grote, and Thierry Chopin. 2018. State of the Art and Challenges for Offshore Integrated Multi-Trophic Aquaculture (IMTA). *Frontiers in Marine Science* 5. doi:10.3389/fmars.2018.00165.
- Cai, Junning, Alessandro Lovatelli, Esther Garrido Gamarro, James Geehan, Daniela Lucente, Graham Mair, Miao Weimin, Melba Bondad-Reantaso, and Rodrigo Roubach. 2021.
 Seaweeds and Microalgae: An Overview for Unlocking Their Potential in Global Aquaculture Development. FAO - Fisheries and Aquaculture Circular NFIA/C1229, September. doi:https://doi.org/10.4060/cb5670en.
- Cao, Hieu X., Paul Fourounjian, and Wenqin Wang. 2018. The Importance and Potential of Duckweeds as a Model and Crop Plant for Biomass-Based Applications and Beyond. Springer International Publishing. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-58538-3_67-1.
- Cappell, Rod, Graeme MacFadyen, and Andrew Constable. 2022. Research Funding and Economic Aspects of the Antarctic Krill Fishery. *Marine Policy* 143 (September):105200. doi:10.1016/j.marpol.2022.105200.
- Cassidy, Emily S, Paul C West, James S Gerber, and Jonathan A Foley. 2013. Redefining Agricultural Yields: From Tonnes to People Nourished per Hectare. *Environmental Research Letters* 8 (3):034015. doi:10.1088/1748-9326/8/3/034015.
- Chopin, Thierry. 2013. Integrated Multi-Trophic Aquaculture (IMTA). In Sustainable Food Production, ed. Paul Christou, Roxana Savin, Barry A. Costa-Pierce, Ignacy Misztal, and C. Bruce A. Whitelaw, 184–205. New York, NY: Springer. doi:10.1007/978-1-4614-

5797-8_173.

- Choudhury, Nandini Roy. 2023. *Duckweed Market Outlook (2023 to 2033)*. REP-GB-5519. Future Market Insights. https://www.futuremarketinsights.com/reports/duckweed-market.
- Collingham, Lizzie. 2013. *Taste of War: World War II and the Battle for Food*. Illustrated edition. New York: Penguin Books.
- Coughlan, Neil E., Éamonn Walsh, Paul Bolger, Gavin Burnell, Niall O'Leary, Maria O'Mahoney, Simona Paolacci, David Wall, and Marcel A. K. Jansen. 2022. Duckweed Bioreactors: Challenges and Opportunities for Large-Scale Indoor Cultivation of Lemnaceae. *Journal of Cleaner Production* 336 (February):130285. doi:10.1016/j.jclepro.2021.130285.
- Coupe, Joshua, Charles G. Bardeen, Alan Robock, and Owen B. Toon. 2019. Nuclear Winter Responses to Nuclear War between the United States and Russia in the Whole Atmosphere Community Climate Model Version 4 and the Goddard Institute for Space Studies ModelE. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres* 124 (15). Wiley Online Library:8522–8543. doi:https://doi.org/10.1029/2019JD030509.
- Cox, David N., Sita V. Rajasuriya, Priyani E. Soysa, Jean Gladwin, and Ann Ashworth. 1993. Problems Encountered in the Community-Based Production of Leaf Concentrate as a Supplement for Pre-School Children in Sri Lanka. *International Journal of Food Sciences and Nutrition* 44 (2). Taylor & Francis:123–132. doi:10.3109/09637489309017430.
- Davis, Kyle Frankel, Maria Cristina Rulli, Antonio Seveso, and Paolo D'Odorico. 2017. Increased Food Production and Reduced Water Use through Optimized Crop Distribution. *Nature Geoscience* 10 (12). Nature Publishing Group:919–924. doi:10.1038/s41561-017-0004-5.
- Denkenberger, David, and Robert W. Blair. 2018. Interventions That May Prevent or Mollify Supervolcanic Eruptions. *Futures*, Futures of research in catastrophic and existential risk, 102 (September):51–62. doi:10.1016/j.futures.2018.01.002.
- Denkenberger, David, D. Dorothea Cole, Mohamed Abdelkhaliq, Michael Griswold, Allen B. Hundley, and Joshua Pearce. 2017. Feeding Everyone If the Sun Is Obscured and Industry Is Disabled. *International Journal of Disaster Risk Reduction* 21 (March):284– 290. doi:10.1016/j.ijdrr.2016.12.018.
- Denkenberger, David, and Joshua Pearce. 2014. *Feeding Everyone No Matter What: Managing Food Security After Global Catastrophe*. Cambridge, Massachusetts: Academic Press.
- Denkenberger, David, and Joshua Pearce. 2015. Feeding Everyone: Solving the Food Crisis in Event of Global Catastrophes That Kill Crops or Obscure the Sun. *Futures*, Confronting Future Catastrophic Threats To Humanity, 72 (September):57–68. doi:10.1016/j.futures.2014.11.008.
- Denkenberger, David, Joshua Pearce, Andrew Ray Taylor, and Ryan Black. 2018. Food without Sun: Price and Life-Saving Potential. *Foresight* 21 (1). Emerald Publishing Limited:118–129. doi:10.1108/FS-04-2018-0041.
- Denkenberger, David, Anders Sandberg, Ross John Tieman, and Joshua Pearce. 2021. Long-Term Cost-Effectiveness of Interventions for Loss of Electricity/Industry Compared to Artificial General Intelligence Safety. *European Journal of Futures Research* 9 (1):11. doi:10.1186/s40309-021-00178-z.
- Denkenberger, David, Anders Sandberg, Ross John Tieman, and Joshua Pearce. 2022. Long Term Cost-Effectiveness of Resilient Foods for Global Catastrophes Compared to

Artificial General Intelligence Safety. *International Journal of Disaster Risk Reduction* 73 (April):102798. doi:10.1016/j.ijdrr.2022.102798.

- Dressaire, Emilie, Lisa Yamada, Boya Song, and Marcus Roper. 2016. Mushrooms Use Convectively Created Airflows to Disperse Their Spores | PNAS. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Science of the United States* 113 (11):2833–2838. doi:10.1073/pnas.1509612113.
- Duarte, Carlos M., Annette Bruhn, and Dorte Krause-Jensen. 2022. A Seaweed Aquaculture Imperative to Meet Global Sustainability Targets. *Nature Sustainability* 5 (3):185–193. doi:10.1038/s41893-021-00773-9.
- EIA. 2024. Biofuels Explained. U.S. Energy Information Administration (EIA). https://www.eia.gov/energyexplained/biofuels/.
- Everest, T., A. Sungur, and H. Özcan. 2021. Determination of Agricultural Land Suitability with a Multiple-Criteria Decision-Making Method in Northwestern Turkey. *International Journal of Environmental Science and Technology* 18 (5):1073–1088. doi:10.1007/s13762-020-02869-9.
- Fang, Jianguang, Jing Zhang, Tian Xiao, Daji Huang, and Sumei Liu. 2016. Integrated Multi-Trophic Aquaculture (IMTA) in Sanggou Bay, China. Aquaculture Environment Interactions 8 (April):201–205. doi:10.3354/aei00179.
- FAO. 2020. *The State of World Fisheries and Aquaculture 2020: Sustainability in Action*. The State of World Fisheries and Aquaculture (SOFIA). Rome, Italy: FAO. https://www.fao.org/documents/card/en/c/ca9229en.
- FAO. 2022a. Integrated Multitrophic Aquaculture: Lessons from China. CB9079EN. Rome, Italy: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. https://openknowledge.fao.org/server/api/core/bitstreams/4f50c8be-22df-4f6a-a092-93791d2cc491/content.
- FAO. 2022b. The State of World Fisheries and Aquaculture 2022. FAO. doi:10.4060/cc0461en.
- FAO. 2024. FAOSTAT Food and Agriculture Organization Corporate Statistical Database. https://www.fao.org/faostat/en/#home.
- Femeena, P. V., B. Roman, and R. A. Brennan. 2023. Maximizing Duckweed Biomass Production for Food Security at Low Light Intensities: Experimental Results and an Enhanced Predictive Model. *Environmental Challenges* 11 (April):100709. doi:10.1016/j.envc.2023.100709.
- Fist, Tim, Adewale A. Adesanya, David Denkenberger, and Joshua Pearce. 2021. Global Distribution of Forest Classes and Leaf Biomass for Use as Alternative Foods to Minimize Malnutrition. *World Food Policy*, September. doi:10.1002/wfp2.12030.
- Fjeld, Kristian, Rachel Tiller, Eduardo Grimaldo, Leif Grimsmo, and Inger-Beate Standal. 2023. Mesopelagics–New Gold Rush or Castle in the Sky? *Marine Policy* 147 (January):105359. doi:10.1016/j.marpol.2022.105359.
- García Martínez, Juan B., Kyle A. Alvarado, and David Denkenberger. 2022. Synthetic Fat from Petroleum as a Resilient Food for Global Catastrophes: Preliminary Techno-Economic Assessment and Technology Roadmap. *Chemical Engineering Research and Design* 177 (January):255–272. doi:10.1016/j.cherd.2021.10.017.
- García Martínez, Juan B., Jeffray Behr, and David Denkenberger. 2024. Food without Agriculture: Food from CO2, Biomass and Hydrocarbons to Secure Humanity's Food Supply against Global Catastrophe. *Trends in Food Science & Technology* 150 (August). doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tifs.2024.104609.

- García Martínez, Juan B., Michael M. Brown, Xenia Christodoulou, Kyle A. Alvarado, and David Denkenberger. 2021. Potential of Microbial Electrosynthesis for Contributing to Food Production Using CO2 during Global Agriculture-Inhibiting Disasters. *Cleaner Engineering and Technology* 4 (October). doi:10.1016/j.clet.2021.100139.
- García Martínez, Juan B., Joseph Egbejimba, James Throup, Silvio Matassa, Joshua Pearce, and David Denkenberger. 2021. Potential of Microbial Protein from Hydrogen for Preventing Mass Starvation in Catastrophic Scenarios. *Sustainable Production and Consumption* 25 (January):234–247. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.spc.2020.08.011.
- García Martínez, Juan B., Joshua Pearce, James Throup, Jacob Cates, Maximilian Lackner, and David Denkenberger. 2022. Methane Single Cell Protein: Potential to Secure a Global Protein Supply Against Catastrophic Food Shocks. *Frontiers in Bioengineering and Biotechnology* 10 (July):906704. doi:10.3389/fbioe.2022.906704.
- Gaupp, Franziska, Jim Hall, Dann Mitchell, and Simon Dadson. 2019. Increasing Risks of Multiple Breadbasket Failure under 1.5 and 2 °C Global Warming. Agricultural Systems 175 (October):34–45. doi:10.1016/j.agsy.2019.05.010.
- Glomseth, Ram Eirik. 2024. *Kulda vi glemte: Norges manglende atomvinterberedskap*. Oslo: Langsikt. https://www.langsikt.no/publikasjoner/kulda-vi-glemte-norges-manglendeatomvinterberedskap.
- Gren, Ing-Marie. 2019. The Economic Value of Mussel Farming for Uncertain Nutrient Removal in the Baltic Sea. *PLOS ONE* 14 (6). Public Library of Science:e0218023. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0218023.
- Harrison, Cheryl S., Tyler Rohr, Alice DuVivier, Elizabeth A. Maroon, Scott Bachman, Charles G. Bardeen, Joshua Coupe, Victoria Garza, Ryan Heneghan, Nicole S. Lovenduski, et al. 2022. A New Ocean State After Nuclear War. AGU Advances 3 (4). doi:10.1029/2021AV000610.
- Helm, Michael M., and Neil Bourne. 2004. The Hatchery Culture of Bivalves: A Practical Manual. FAO Fisheries and Aquaculture Technical Paper. Rome. https://www.fao.org/3/y5720e/y5720e00.htm.
- Hess, G. D. 2021. The Impact of a Regional Nuclear Conflict between India and Pakistan: Two Views. *Journal for Peace and Nuclear Disarmament* 4 (sup1). Routledge:163–175. doi:10.1080/25751654.2021.1882772.
- Hinge, Michael, Vasco Amaral Grilo, Florian Ulrich Jehn, Juan Bartolomé García Martínez, Farrah Dingal, Michael Roleda, and David Denkenberger. 2024. Seaweed Cultivation: A Cost-Effective Strategy for Food Production in a Global Catastrophe. EarthArXiv. https://eartharxiv.org/repository/view/7491/.
- Hochman, Gal, Hainan Zhang, Lili Xia, Alan Robock, Aleti Saketh, Dominique Y. van der Mensbrugghe, and Jonas Jägermeyr. 2022. Economic Incentives Modify Agricultural Impacts of Nuclear War. *Environmental Research Letters* 17 (5). IOP Publishing:054003. doi:10.1088/1748-9326/ac61c7.
- Hoffman, Steven J., Prativa Baral, Susan Rogers Van Katwyk, Lathika Sritharan, Matthew Hughsam, Harkanwal Randhawa, Gigi Lin, Sophie Campbell, Brooke Campus, Maria Dantas, et al. 2022. International Treaties Have Mostly Failed to Produce Their Intended Effects. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 119 (32). Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences:e2122854119. doi:10.1073/pnas.2122854119.
- Hussein, Laila, Mohamed El-Fouly, F.K. El-Baz, and S.A. Ghanem. 1999. Nutritional Quality and the Presence of Anti-Nutritional Factors in Leaf Protein Concentrates (LPC).

International Journal of Food Sciences and Nutrition 50 (5). Taylor & Francis:333–343. doi:10.1080/096374899101067.

- Hwang, Eun Kyoung, Chan Sun Park, Eun Kyoung Hwang, and Chan Sun Park. 2020. Seaweed Cultivation and Utilization of Korea. *Algae* 35 (2). The Korean Society of Phycology:107–121. doi:10.4490/algae.2020.35.5.15.
- Irigoien, Xabier, T. A. Klevjer, A. Røstad, U. Martinez, G. Boyra, J. L. Acuña, A. Bode, F. Echevarria, J. I. Gonzalez-Gordillo, S. Hernandez-Leon, et al. 2014. Large Mesopelagic Fishes Biomass and Trophic Efficiency in the Open Ocean. *Nature Communications* 5 (1). Nature Publishing Group:3271. doi:10.1038/ncomms4271.
- Janetos, Anthony, Christopher Justice, Molly Jahn, Michael Obersteiner, Joseph Glauber, and William Mulhern. 2017. *The Risks of Multiple Breadbasket Failures in the 21st Century: A Science Research Agenda*. The Frederick S. Pardee Center for the Study of the Longer-Range Future.
- Jehn, Florian Ulrich, Farrah Jasmine Dingal, Aron Mill, Cheryl Harrison, Ekaterina Ilin, Michael Y Roleda, Scott C James, and David Denkenberger. 2024. Seaweed as a Resilient Food Solution after a Nuclear War. *Earth's Future* 12 (1). doi:https://doi.org/10.1029/2023EF003710.
- Jehn, Florian Ulrich, Łukasz G. Gajewski, Johanna Hedlund, Constantin W. Arnscheidt, Lili Xia, Nico Wunderling, and David Denkenberger. 2024. Food Trade Disruption after Global Catastrophes, June. EarthArXiv. https://eartharxiv.org/repository/view/7339/.
- Jose, Linto, Milan Raxworthy, Baxter Lorenzo McIntosh Williams, and David Denkenberger. 2024. Be Clever or Be Cold: Repurposed Ovens for Space Heating Following Global Catastrophic Infrastructure Loss, August. EarthArXiv. https://eartharxiv.org/repository/view/7524/.
- Karnjanapratum, Supatra, Soottawat Benjakul, Hideki Kishimura, and Yung-Hsiang Tsai. 2013. Chemical Compositions and Nutritional Value of Asian Hard Clam (Meretrix Lusoria) from the Coast of Andaman Sea. *Food Chemistry* 141 (4):4138–4145. doi:10.1016/j.foodchem.2013.07.001.
- Laborde, David, Will Martin, Johan Swinnen, and Rob Vos. 2020. COVID-19 Risks to Global Food Security. *Science* 369 (6503). American Association for the Advancement of Science:500–502.
- Landry, Craig E, and Travis A Smith. 2019. Demand for Household Food Waste. *Applied Economic Perspectives and Policy* 41 (1):20–36. doi:10.1093/aepp/ppy037.
- Li, Leyuan, Michael Stasiak, Liang Li, Beizhen Xie, Yuming Fu, Danuta Gidzinski, Mike Dixon, and Hong Liu. 2016. Rearing Tenebrio Molitor in BLSS: Dietary Fiber Affects Larval Growth, Development, and Respiration Characteristics. *Acta Astronautica* 118 (January):130–136. doi:10.1016/j.actaastro.2015.10.003.
- Liu, Hin-Yan, Kristian Lauta, and Matthijs Maas. 2020. Apocalypse Now?: Initial Lessons from the Covid-19 Pandemic for the Governance of Existential and Global Catastrophic Risks. *Journal of International Humanitarian Legal Studies* 11 (2). Brill Nijhoff:295–310. doi:10.1163/18781527-01102004.
- Maas, Matthijs, Kayla Lucero-Matteucci, and Di Cooke. 2023. Military Artificial Intelligence as a Contributor to Global Catastrophic Risk, August. Open Book Publishers, 237–284. doi:10.11647/obp.0336.10.
- Martin, Michael M., C. G. Jones, Elizabeth Anna Bernays, William Gilbert Chaloner, John Lander Harper, and John Hartley Lawton. 1997. The Evolution of Cellulose Digestion in

Insects. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences* 333 (1267). Royal Society:281–288. doi:10.1098/rstb.1991.0078.

- Maynard, Trevor. 2015. Food System Shock: The Insurance Impacts of Acute Disruption to Global Food Supply. Emerging Risk Report, Innovation Series. London: Lloyd's of London.
- Meyer, Theresa K., Alexis Pascaris, David Denkenberger, and Joshua Pearce. 2021. US Potential of Sustainable Backyard Distributed Animal and Plant Protein Production during and after Pandemics. *Sustainability* 13 (9). Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute:5067.
- Meyer, Theresa K., R. J. Tieman, S. W. Breuer, David Denkenberger, and Joshua Pearce. 2023. Toxic Analysis of Leaf Protein Concentrate Regarding Common Agricultural Residues. *Journal of Food Quality and Hazards Control*, September. doi:10.18502/jfqhc.10.3.13643.
- Miller, Henry, James Mulhall, Lou Aino Pfau, Rachel Palm, and David C. Denkenberger. 2024. Can Foraging for Earthworms Significantly Reduce Global Famine in a Catastrophe? *Biomass* 4 (3). Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute:765–783. doi:10.3390/biomass4030043.
- Minoli, Sara, Jonas Jägermeyr, Senthold Asseng, Anton Urfels, and Christoph Müller. 2022. Global Crop Yields Can Be Lifted by Timely Adaptation of Growing Periods to Climate Change. *Nature Communications* 13 (1). Nature Publishing Group:7079. doi:10.1038/s41467-022-34411-5.
- Moersdorf, Jessica, Morgan Rivers, David Denkenberger, Lutz Breuer, and Florian Jehn. 2024. The Fragile State of Industrial Agriculture: Estimating Crop Yield Reductions in a Global Catastrophic Infrastructure Loss Scenario. *Global Challenges*. doi:10.5281/zenodo.8198966.
- Monteiro, Luísa, Morgan Rivers, Michael Hinge, and David Denkenberger. 2024. Expanding Cropland Area to Feed Everyone in Case of a Global Catastrophe. In . Christchurch. doi:10.13140/RG.2.2.12480.75522.
- Morales-Ramos, Juan A., M. Guadalupe Rojas, Hans C. Kelstrup, and Virginia Emery. 2020.
 Self-Selection of Agricultural By-Products and Food Ingredients by Tenebrio Molitor (Coleoptera: Tenebrionidae) and Impact on Food Utilization and Nutrient Intake. *Insects* 11 (12). Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute:827. doi:10.3390/insects11120827.
- Mottaghi, Maryam, Theresa K. Meyer, Ross John Tieman, David Denkenberger, and Joshua Pearce. 2023. Yield and Toxin Analysis of Leaf Protein Concentrate from Common North American Coniferous Trees. *Biomass* 3 (2). Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute:163–187. doi:10.3390/biomass3020011.
- Nagy, Steven, Lehel Telek, Nancy T. Hall, and Robert E. Berry. 1978. Potential Food Uses for Protein from Tropical and Subtropical Plant Leaves. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 26 (5):1016–1028. doi:10.1021/jf60219a028.
- Nelson, David, Alexey Turchin, and David Denkenberger. 2024. Wood Gasification: A Promising Strategy to Extend Fuel Reserves after Global Catastrophic Electricity Loss. *Biomass* 4 (2). Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute:610–624. doi:10.3390/biomass4020033.
- Nicol, Stephen, Jacqueline Foster, and So Kawaguchi. 2012. The Fishery for Antarctic Krill Recent Developments. *Fish and Fisheries* 13 (1):30–40. doi:10.1111/j.1467-2979.2011.00406.x.

Ord, Toby. 2020. The Precipice: Existential Risk and the Future of Humanity. Hachette Books.

- Oyinlola, Muhammed A., Gabriel Reygondeau, Colette C. C. Wabnitz, Max Troell, and William W. L. Cheung. 2018. Global Estimation of Areas with Suitable Environmental Conditions for Mariculture Species. *PLOS ONE* 13 (1). Public Library of Science:e0191086. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0191086.
- Paoletti, Silvia, J. Rasmus Nielsen, Claus R. Sparrevohn, Francois Bastardie, and Berthe M. J. Vastenhoud. 2021. Potential for Mesopelagic Fishery Compared to Economy and Fisheries Dynamics in Current Large Scale Danish Pelagic Fishery. *Frontiers in Marine Science* 8. doi:https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2021.720897.
- Parappurathu, Shinoj, Muktha Menon, Charles Jeeva, Johnson Belevendran, Anuraj Anirudhan,
 P. S. Swathi Lekshmi, C. Ramachandran, Shelton Padua, Natarajan Aswathy,
 Shubhadeep Ghosh, et al. 2023. Sustainable Intensification of Small-Scale Mariculture
 Systems: Farm-Level Insights from the Coastal Regions of India. *Frontiers in*Sustainable Food Systems 7 (March). Frontiers. doi:10.3389/fsufs.2023.1078314.
- Pearce, F Grant, and Joel E Brunke. 2022. Is Now the Time for a Rubiscuit or Ruburger? Increased Interest in Rubisco as a Food Protein. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 74 (2):627–637. doi:10.1093/jxb/erac414.
- Pearce, Joshua, Maryam Khaksari, and David Denkenberger. 2019. Preliminary Automated Determination of Edibility of Alternative Foods: Non-Targeted Screening for Toxins in Red Maple Leaf Concentrate. *Plants (Basel, Switzerland)* 8 (5). doi:10.3390/plants8050110.
- Pham, Alix, Juan B. García Martínez, Vojtech Brynych, Ratheka Stormbjorne, Joshua Pearce, and David Denkenberger. 2022. Nutrition in Abrupt Sunlight Reduction Scenarios: Envisioning Feasible Balanced Diets on Resilient Foods. *Nutrients* 14 (3).
 Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute:492. doi:10.3390/nu14030492.
- Phillips, Helen R. P., Carlos A. Guerra, Marie L. C. Bartz, Maria J. I. Briones, George Brown, Thomas W. Crowther, Olga Ferlian, Konstantin B. Gongalsky, Johan Van Den Hoogen, Julia Krebs, et al. 2019. Global Distribution of Earthworm Diversity. *Science* 366 (6464):480–485. doi:10.1126/science.aax4851.
- Pinsent, Stanley, and Joel Tan. 2024. *Resilience to Nuclear & Volcanic Winter*. Centre for Exploratory Altruism Research. https://forum.effectivealtruism.org/posts/tyo6v4ibrksbdArMj/resilience-to-nuclear-andvolcanic-winter.
- Poling, E Barclay. 2007. Overview of Active Frost, Frost/Freeze and Freeze Protection Methods. In , 47–64. University of Missouri Extension Columbia.
- Pratt, Bryan. 2023. Conservation Reserve Program Reaches 22 Million Enrolled Acres in 2022. *USDA*. http://www.ers.usda.gov/data-products/chart-gallery/gallery/chart-detail/?chartId=106658.
- Pudlo, Nicholas A., Gabriel Vasconcelos Pereira, Jaagni Parnami, Melissa Cid, Stephanie Markert, Jeffrey P. Tingley, Frank Unfried, Ahmed Ali, Neha J. Varghese, Kwi S. Kim, et al. 2022. Diverse Events Have Transferred Genes for Edible Seaweed Digestion from Marine to Human Gut Bacteria. *Cell Host & Microbe* 30 (3). Elsevier:314-328.e11. doi:10.1016/j.chom.2022.02.001.
- Punia Bangar, Sneh, Vandana Chaudhary, Priyanka Kajla, Gayathri Balakrishnan, and Yuthana Phimolsiripol. 2024. Strategies for Upcycling Food Waste in the Food Production and Supply Chain. *Trends in Food Science & Technology* 143 (January):104314.

doi:10.1016/j.tifs.2023.104314.

- Ramzy, Remondah R., Marco A. El-Dakar, Dun Wang, and Hong Ji. 2022. Conversion Efficiency of Lignin-Rich Olive Pomace to Produce Nutrient-Rich Insect Biomass by Black Soldier Fly Larvae, Hermetia Illucens. *Waste and Biomass Valorization* 13 (2):893–903. doi:10.1007/s12649-021-01546-3.
- Rana, Shafquat, Nicholas Vandewetering, Jadyn Powell, Jonathan Álvarez Ariza, and Joshua Pearce. 2023. Geographical Dependence of Open Hardware Optimization: Case Study of Solar Photovoltaic Racking. *Technologies* 11 (2). Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute:62. doi:10.3390/technologies11020062.
- Rathore, Mala. 2010. Leaf Protein Concentrate as Food Supplement from Arid Zone Plants. Journal of Dietary Supplements 7 (2). Taylor & Francis:97–103. doi:10.3109/19390211003766777.
- Resende, Luís, Juan Flores, Cláudia Moreira, Diana Pacheco, Alexandra Baeta, Ana Carla Garcia, and Ana Cristina Silva Rocha. 2022. Effective and Low-Maintenance IMTA System as Effluent Treatment Unit for Promoting Sustainability in Coastal Aquaculture. *Applied Sciences* 12 (1). Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute:398. doi:10.3390/app12010398.
- Richards, C. E., H. L. Gauch, and J. M. Allwood. 2023. International Risk of Food Insecurity and Mass Mortality in a Runaway Global Warming Scenario. *Futures* 150 (June):103173. doi:10.1016/j.futures.2023.103173.
- Rickard, Ciara. 2022. Why Foraging Is the Viral Food Trend of the Moment. *The Globe and Mail*, May 19. https://www.theglobeandmail.com/life/article-why-foraging-is-the-viral-food-trend-of-the-moment/.
- Ritchie, Hannah, Pablo Rosado, and Max Roser. 2017. Per Capita Meat Consumption by Type. *Our World in Data*. https://ourworldindata.org/grapher/per-capita-meat-type.
- Ritchie, Hannah, and Max Roser. 2024. Land Use. *Our World in Data*. https://ourworldindata.org/land-use.
- Rivers, Morgan, Michael Hinge, Kevin Rassool, Simon Blouin, Florian Jehn, Juan B. García Martínez, Vasco Grilo, Victor Jaeck, Ross Tieman, James Mulhall, et al. 2024. Food System Adaptation and Maintaining Trade Could Mitigate Global Famine in Abrupt Sunlight Reduction Scenarios. doi:10.5281/zenodo.11484350.
- Ros-Baró, Marta, Violeida Sánchez-Socarrás, Maria Santos-Pagès, Anna Bach-Faig, and Alicia Aguilar-Martínez. 2022. Consumers' Acceptability and Perception of Edible Insects as an Emerging Protein Source. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health* 19 (23):15756. doi:10.3390/ijerph192315756.
- Ruhl, Christian. 2023. *Global Catastrophic Nuclear Risk: A Guide for Philanthropists*. Founders Pledge. https://www.founderspledge.com/research/global-catastrophic-nuclear-risk-a-guide-for-philanthropists.
- Salehi, Marzie, Rahim Ebrahimi, Ali Maleki, and Hassan Ghasemi Mobtaker. 2014. An Assessment of Energy Modeling and Input Costs for Greenhouse Button Mushroom Production in Iran. *Journal of Cleaner Production* 64 (February):377–383. doi:10.1016/j.jclepro.2013.09.005.
- Sandström, Vilma, Anna Chrysafi, Marjukka Lamminen, Max Troell, Mika Jalava, Johannes Piipponen, Stefan Siebert, Ollie van Hal, Vili Virkki, and Matti Kummu. 2022. Food System By-Products Upcycled in Livestock and Aquaculture Feeds Can Increase Global Food Supply. *Nature Food* 3 (9). Nature Publishing Group:729–740.

doi:10.1038/s43016-022-00589-6.

- Santamaría-Fernández, Maria, and Mette Lübeck. 2020. Production of Leaf Protein Concentrates in Green Biorefineries as Alternative Feed for Monogastric Animals. *Animal Feed Science and Technology* 268 (October):114605. doi:10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2020.114605.
- Scherrer, Kim J. N., Cheryl S. Harrison, Ryan F. Heneghan, Eric Galbraith, Charles G. Bardeen, Joshua Coupe, Jonas Jägermeyr, Nicole S. Lovenduski, August Luna, Alan Robock, et al. 2020. Marine Wild-Capture Fisheries after Nuclear War. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 117 (47):29748–29758. doi:10.1073/pnas.2008256117.
- Schori, F., and A. Münger. 2021. Effects of an All-Herbage versus a Concentrate-Supplemented Ration on Productivity, Body Condition, Medical Treatments and Reproduction in Two Holstein Cow Types under Organic Conditions. *Livestock Science* 254 (December):104768. doi:10.1016/j.livsci.2021.104768.
- Segovia-Siapco, Gina, and Joan Sabaté. 2019. Health and Sustainability Outcomes of Vegetarian Dietary Patterns: A Revisit of the EPIC-Oxford and the Adventist Health Study-2 Cohorts. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 72 (1). Nature Publishing Group:60–70. doi:10.1038/s41430-018-0310-z.
- Sepasspour, Rumtin. 2023. *All-Hazards Policy for Global Catastrophic Risk*. Technical Report 23-1. Global Catastrophic Risk Institute. https://gcrinstitute.org/all-hazards-policy/.
- Shen, Junshi, Wenjin Zheng, Yixuan Xu, and Zhongtang Yu. 2023. The Inhibition of High Ammonia to in Vitro Rumen Fermentation Is pH Dependent. *Frontiers in Veterinary Science* 10 (March). Frontiers. doi:10.3389/fvets.2023.1163021.
- Sinha, Rajiv K. 2009. Earthworms: The Miracle of Nature (Charles Darwin's "Unheralded Soldiers of Mankind & Farmer's Friends"). *The Environmentalist* 29 (4):339–340. doi:10.1007/s10669-009-9242-4.
- Siva, Niroshan, and Charles T. Anderson. 2023. Assessing Lignocellulosic Biomass as a Source of Emergency Foods. *Current Research in Food Science* 7 (January):100586. doi:10.1016/j.crfs.2023.100586.
- Siva, Niroshan, and Charles T. Anderson. 2024. Nonindustrial Pretreatment and Enzymes Can Yield Sufficient Calories from Lignocellulosic Biomass for Human Survival. *Food Science & Nutrition*, no. n/a (July). doi:10.1002/fsn3.4358.
- Taelman, Sue Ellen, Jennifer Champenois, Maeve D. Edwards, Steven De Meester, and Jo Dewulf. 2015. Comparative Environmental Life Cycle Assessment of Two Seaweed Cultivation Systems in North West Europe with a Focus on Quantifying Sea Surface Occupation. *Algal Research* 11 (September):173–183. doi:10.1016/j.algal.2015.06.018.
- Thi, Ngoc Bao Dung, Gopalakrishnan Kumar, and Chiu-Yue Lin. 2015. An Overview of Food Waste Management in Developing Countries: Current Status and Future Perspective. *Journal of Environmental Management* 157 (July):220–229. doi:10.1016/j.jenvman.2015.04.022.
- Throup, James, Juan B. García Martínez, Bryan Bals, Jacob Cates, Joshua Pearce, and David Denkenberger. 2022. Rapid Repurposing of Pulp and Paper Mills, Biorefineries, and Breweries for Lignocellulosic Sugar Production in Global Food Catastrophes. *Food and Bioproducts Processing* 131 (January):22–39. doi:10.1016/j.fbp.2021.10.012.
- Tierney, Jessica E., Francesco S. R. Pausata, and Peter B. deMenocal. 2017. Rainfall Regimes of the Green Sahara. *Science Advances* 3 (1). American Association for the Advancement of Science:e1601503. doi:10.1126/sciadv.1601503.

- Tong, Xiaoye, Xiaoxin Zhang, Rasmus Fensholt, Peter Rosendal Dau Jensen, Sizhuo Li, Marianne Nylandsted Larsen, Florian Reiner, Feng Tian, and Martin Brandt. 2024.
 Global Area Boom for Greenhouse Cultivation Revealed by Satellite Mapping. *Nature Food*, May. Nature Publishing Group, 1–11. doi:10.1038/s43016-024-00985-0.
- Tou, Janet C., Jacek Jaczynski, and Yi-Chen Chen. 2007. Krill for Human Consumption: Nutritional Value and Potential Health Benefits. *Nutrition Reviews* 65 (2):63–77. doi:10.1111/j.1753-4887.2007.tb00283.x.
- Tullberg, Robert Maxwell, Huu Phu Nguyen, and Chien Ming Wang. 2022. Review of the Status and Developments in Seaweed Farming Infrastructure. *Journal of Marine Science and Engineering* 10 (10). Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute:1447. doi:10.3390/jmse10101447.
- Turck, Dominique, Torsten Bohn, Jacqueline Castenmiller, Stefaan De Henauw, Karen Ildico Hirsch-Ernst, Alexandre Maciuk, Inge Mangelsdorf, Harry J McArdle, Androniki Naska, Carmen Pelaez, et al. 2023. Safety of Water Lentil Protein Concentrate from a Mixture of Lemna Gibba and Lemna Minor as a Novel Food Pursuant to Regulation (EU) 2015/2283. EFSA Journal 21 (4):e07903. doi:10.2903/j.efsa.2023.7903.
- Turk, J. M. 2014. Small Ruminants in Smallholder Integrated Production Systems. In Encyclopedia of Agriculture and Food Systems, ed. Neal K. Van Alfen, 122–132. Oxford: Academic Press. doi:10.1016/B978-0-444-52512-3.00160-1.
- Tzachor, Asaf, Catherine E. Richards, and Lauren Holt. 2021. Future Foods for Risk-Resilient Diets. *Nature Food* 2 (5):326–329. doi:10.1038/s43016-021-00269-x.
- Ugwoke, Blessing, Ross Tieman, Aron Mill, David Denkenberger, and Joshua Pearce. 2023. Quantifying Alternative Food Potential of Agricultural Residue in Rural Communities of Sub-Saharan Africa. *Biomass* 3 (2). Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute:138– 162. doi:10.3390/biomass3020010.
- Ulloa Ruiz, Mónica A., Jorge A. Torres Celis, Morgan Rivers, David Denkenberger, and Juan B. García Martínez. 2024. Soluciones Alimentarias Resilientes Para Evitar La Hambruna Masiva Durante Un Invierno Nuclear En Argentina. *Revista de Estudios Latinoamericanos Sobre Reducción Del Riesgo de Desastres* in press.
- USDA. 2024. U.S. Bioenergy Statistics. doi:https://www.ers.usda.gov/data-products/u-s-bioenergy-statistics/.
- Vandewetering, Nicholas, Koami Soulemane Hayibo, and Joshua M. Pearce. 2022. Impacts of Location on Designs and Economics of DIY Low-Cost Fixed-Tilt Open Source Wood Solar Photovoltaic Racking. *Designs* 6 (3). Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute:41. doi:10.3390/designs6030041.
- Vanthoor, Bram H. E., Juan C. Gázquez, Juan J. Magán, Marc N. A. Ruijs, Esteban Baeza, Cecilia Stanghellini, Eldert J. van Henten, and Pieter H. B. de Visser. 2012. A Methodology for Model-Based Greenhouse Design: Part 4, Economic Evaluation of Different Greenhouse Designs: A Spanish Case. *Biosystems Engineering* 111 (4):336– 349. doi:10.1016/j.biosystemseng.2011.12.008.
- Varne, Ashitosh Rajesh, Simon Blouin, Baxter Lorenzo McIntosh Williams, and David Denkenberger. 2024. The Impact of Abrupt Sunlight Reduction Scenarios on Renewable Energy Production. EarthArXiv. https://eartharxiv.org/repository/view/7450/.
- Vennard, Henry, Joshua Pearce, and David Denkenberger. 2024. Wood Chipper Design for Biofuel Production in a Global Catastrophic Loss of Infrastructure Scenario. *Hardware* 2 (2). Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute:154–172.

doi:10.3390/hardware2020008.

- Verma, Monika van den Bos, Linda de Vreede, Thom Achterbosch, and Martine M. Rutten. 2020. Consumers Discard a Lot More Food than Widely Believed: Estimates of Global Food Waste Using an Energy Gap Approach and Affluence Elasticity of Food Waste. Edited by Taoyuan Wei. *PLOS ONE* 15 (2):e0228369. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0228369.
- Visch, Wouter, Cayne Layton, Catriona L. Hurd, Catriona Macleod, and Jeffrey T. Wright. 2023. A Strategic Review and Research Roadmap for Offshore Seaweed Aquaculture—A Case Study from Southern Australia. *Reviews in Aquaculture* 15 (4):1467–1479. doi:10.1111/raq.12788.
- von Zabeltitz, Christian. 2011. Greenhouse Structures. In Integrated Greenhouse Systems for Mild Climates: Climate Conditions, Design, Construction, Maintenance, Climate Control, ed. Christian von Zabeltitz, 59–135. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer. doi:10.1007/978-3-642-14582-7_5.
- Vymazal, J. 2008. Constructed Wetlands, Surface Flow. In *Encyclopedia of Ecology*, ed. Sven Erik Jørgensen and Brian D. Fath, 765–776. Oxford: Academic Press. doi:10.1016/B978-008045405-4.00079-3.
- Walker, Brian, Anne-Sophie Crépin, Magnus Nyström, John M. Anderies, Erik Andersson, Thomas Elmqvist, Cibele Queiroz, Scott Barrett, Elena Bennett, Juan Camilo Cardenas, et al. 2023. Response Diversity as a Sustainability Strategy. *Nature Sustainability* 6 (6). Nature Publishing Group:621–629. doi:10.1038/s41893-022-01048-7.
- Wang, Yu, Wei Cai, Li Li, Yane Gao, and Kee-hung Lai. 2023. Recent Advances in the Processing and Manufacturing of Plant-Based Meat. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 71 (3). American Chemical Society:1276–1290. doi:10.1021/acs.jafc.2c07247.
- Weber, Dillon. 2016. *Of Corn and Climate Change: Ethanol in America*. Philadelphia: Kleinman Center for Energy Policy.
- Wentworth, Sean. 2019. Leaf Press for Leaf Protein Concentrate Appropedia, the Sustainability Wiki. https://www.appropedia.org/Leaf_Press_for_Leaf_Protein_Concentrate.
- Whitehead, Dalton, and Yuan H. Brad Kim. 2022. The Impact of COVID 19 on the Meat Supply Chain in the USA: A Review. *Food Science of Animal Resources* 42 (5):762–774. doi:10.5851/kosfa.2022.e39.
- Wiggert, Marius, Leela Amladi, Ron Berenstein, Stefano Carpin, Joshua Viers, Stavros Vougioukas, and Ken Goldberg. 2019. RAPID-MOLT: A Meso-Scale, Open-Source, Low-Cost Testbed for Robot Assisted Precision Irrigation and Delivery. In 2019 IEEE 15th International Conference on Automation Science and Engineering (CASE), 1489– 1496. Vancouver, BC, Canada: IEEE. doi:10.1109/COASE.2019.8842877.
- Wijsman, J. W. M., K. Troost, J. Fang, and A. Roncarati. 2019. Global Production of Marine Bivalves. Trends and Challenges. In *Goods and Services of Marine Bivalves*, ed. Aad C. Smaal, Joao G. Ferreira, Jon Grant, Jens K. Petersen, and Øivind Strand, 7–26. Cham: Springer International Publishing. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-96776-9_2.
- Willer, David F., and David C. Aldridge. 2020. From Pest to Profit—The Potential of Shipworms for Sustainable Aquaculture. *Frontiers in Sustainable Food Systems* 4. https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fsufs.2020.575416.
- Willer, David F., Richard J. Nicholls, and David C. Aldridge. 2021. Opportunities and Challenges for Upscaled Global Bivalve Seafood Production. *Nature Food* 2 (12). Nature Publishing Group:935–943. doi:10.1038/s43016-021-00423-5.

- Wilson, Nick, Ben Payne, and Matt Boyd. 2023. Mathematical Optimization of Frost Resistant Crop Production to Ensure Food Supply during a Nuclear Winter Catastrophe. *Scientific Reports* 13 (1). Nature Publishing Group:8254. doi:10.1038/s41598-023-35354-7.
- Wilson, Nick, Marnie Prickett, and Matt Boyd. 2023. Food Security during Nuclear Winter: A Preliminary Agricultural Sector Analysis for Aotearoa New Zealand. *The New Zealand Medical Journal* 136 (1574). New Zealand Medical Association (NZMA):65–81.
- Wilson, Nick, Veronika Valler, Michael Cassidy, Matt Boyd, Lara Mani, and Stefan Brönnimann. 2023. Impact of the Tambora Volcanic Eruption of 1815 on Islands and Relevance to Future Sunlight-Blocking Catastrophes. *Scientific Reports* 13 (1). Nature Publishing Group:3649. doi:10.1038/s41598-023-30729-2.
- Winstead, Daniel Jefferson, Francesco Di Gioia, Marjorie Jauregui, and Michael Jacobson. 2024. Nutritional Properties of Raw and Cooked Azolla Caroliniana Willd., an Aquatic Wild Edible Plant. *Food Science & Nutrition* 12 (3):2050–2060. doi:10.1002/fsn3.3904.
- Winstead, Daniel Jefferson, Michael G. Jacobson, and Francesco Di Gioia. 2023. Valorizing Staple Native American Food Plants as a Food Resilience Resource. *Frontiers in Sustainable Food Systems* 7. doi:https://doi.org/10.3389/fsufs.2023.1117805.
- Winstead, Daniel Jefferson, and Michael Gregory Jacobson. 2022. Food Resilience in a Dark Catastrophe: A New Way of Looking at Tropical Wild Edible Plants. *Ambio* 51 (9):1949– 1962. doi:10.1007/s13280-022-01715-1.
- World Bank Group. 2016. Seaweed Aquaculture for Food Security, Income Generation and Environmental Health in Tropical Developing Countries. World Bank, Washington, DC. doi:10.1596/24919.
- Xia, Lili, Alan Robock, Kim Scherrer, Cheryl S. Harrison, Benjamin Leon Bodirsky, Isabelle Weindl, Jonas Jägermeyr, Charles G. Bardeen, Owen B. Toon, and Ryan Heneghan. 2022. Global Food Insecurity and Famine from Reduced Crop, Marine Fishery and Livestock Production Due to Climate Disruption from Nuclear War Soot Injection. *Nature Food* 3 (8):586–596. doi:10.1038/s43016-022-00573-0.
- Xu, Yangyang, Nathanael Philip Ribar, Gunnar W Schade, Andrew John Lockley, Yi Ge Zhang, Jeffrey Sachnik, Pengfei Yu, Jianxin Hu, and Guus J.M. Velders. 2023. Possible Mitigation of Global Cooling Due to Supervolcanic Eruption via Intentional Release of Fluorinated Gases. doi:10.22541/essoar.168394777.78277245/v1.
- Zava, Theodore T., and David T. Zava. 2011. Assessment of Japanese Iodine Intake Based on Seaweed Consumption in Japan: A Literature-Based Analysis. *Thyroid Research* 4 (1). Springer:1–7. doi:10.1186/1756-6614-4-14.
- Zheng, Qiming, Tim Ha, Alexander V. Prishchepov, Yiwen Zeng, He Yin, and Lian Pin Koh. 2023. The Neglected Role of Abandoned Cropland in Supporting Both Food Security and Climate Change Mitigation. *Nature Communications* 14 (1). Nature Publishing Group:6083. doi:10.1038/s41467-023-41837-y.